

What Works in Managing Young People who Offend? A Summary of the International Evidence

Joanna R Adler, Sarah K Edwards, Mia Scally, Dorothy Gill, Michael J Puniskis, Anna Gekoski and Miranda A H Horvath

Forensic Psychological Services at Middlesex University

Ministry of Justice Analytical Series 2016

Analytical Services exists to improve policy making, decision taking and practice by the Ministry of Justice. It does this by providing robust, timely and relevant data and advice drawn from research and analysis undertaken by the department's analysts and by the wider research community.

Disclaimer

The views expressed are those of the authors and are not necessarily shared by the Ministry of Justice (nor do they represent Government policy).

First published 2016

© Crown copyright 2016

You may re-use this information (excluding logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/ or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk

Where we have identified any third party copyright material you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at mojanalyticalservices@justice.gsi.gov.uk

This publication is available for download at http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/research-and-analysis/moj

ISBN 978-1-84099-737-8

Acknowledgements

This review was very much a team effort and was made considerably better by the generous contributions made in response to the call for papers. The authors are also grateful to a number of analysts from the Ministry of Justice Analytical Services who contributed to the production of this report and to the two academics who acted as independent, technical reviewers.

Contents

List of tables

Sur	nmary		1				
	Appr	oach	1				
	Key f	indings	1				
1.	Introduction						
	1.1	Aims	4				
	1.2	Approach	4				
	1.3	Weight of evidence	5				
	1.4	Points to consider when interpreting findings	7				
2.	Key elements of effective intervention						
	2.1	Risk level of targeted young offenders	9				
	2.2	Type of programme: therapeutic approaches	12				
	2.3	Quality of service	12				
	2.4	Service matched to individual offender needs	13				
	2.5	Practitioner interactions with young people who offend – the 'therapeutic					
		alliance'	14				
	2.6	Multi-agency working	14				
3.	Intervention effectiveness across the youth justice pathway						
	3.1	Restorative Justice	16				
	3.2	Cognitive Behavioural Therapy	18				
	3.3	Motivational Interviewing	20				
	3.4	Mentoring	20				
4.	Intervention effectiveness within specific youth justice settings						
	4.1	Diversion	24				
	4.2	Court setting	26				
	4.3	Sentencing	27				
	4.4	Community sentencing requirements	29				
	4.5	Family and community interventions	30				
	4.6	Secure settings	35				
	4.7	Prison visits to deter young people from offending	36				
	4.8	Boot camps	37				
	4 Q	Transitions and resettlement	37				

5.	Serious and sexual offending					
	5.1	Serious offences	41			
	5.2	Sexual offending	42			
6.	Conclusions					
Refe	rences		46			
App	endix A	\	58			
	Glossa	ary of interventions and key terms	58			
App	endix E	3	67			
	Metho	dology	67			
Lis	t of t	tables				
Table	e 3.1 Be	enefit-cost estimates (UK): Victim Offender Mediation (VOM)	17			
Table 3.2 Benefit-cost estimates (UK): Aggression Replacement Training (ART)						
Table	e 4.1 Be	enefit-cost estimates (UK): Drug Courts	27			
Table 4.2 Benefit-cost analysis estimates (UK): Family and community programmes						
Table	e 4.3 Be	enefit-cost estimates (UK): Scared Straight	37			
Tabl	e B.1: N	/ISMS strength of research design scale	70			
Table	e B.2: S	Summary of reviewed sources drawn on at each stage of the review process	73			

Summary

This review was commissioned by the Ministry of Justice and considers international literature concerning the management of young people who have offended. It was produced to inform youth justice policy and practice. The review focuses on the impact and delivery of youth justice supervision, programmes and interventions within the community, secure settings, and during transition into adult justice settings or into mainstream society.

Approach

A Rapid Evidence Assessment (REA) was conducted to assess the international evidence systematically. In line with English and Welsh youth justice sentencing, young people were taken to be 10-17 years old when considering initial intervention, programmes and supervision, and up to 21 years old when considering transitions into the adult criminal justice system and resettlement post release from custody. Evidence was considered from any country where studies were reported in English, and published between 1st January 1990 and 28th February 2014.

The majority of these findings are from evaluations conducted in the United States of America and their transferability to an English and Welsh context should be considered given the different legal and sentencing frameworks, as well as economic and social contexts.

Key findings

Key elements of effective programmes to reduce reoffending

In line with most previous reviews, effective interventions in reducing youth reoffending considered the factors set out below.

- The individual's risk of reoffending: assessing the likelihood of further offending and importantly, matching services to that level of risk with a focus on those people who are assessed as having a higher risk.
- The needs of the individual: focusing attention on those attributes that are predictive of reoffending and targeting them in rehabilitation and service provision.
- An individual's ability to respond to an intervention: maximising the young person's ability to learn from a rehabilitative programme by tailoring approaches to their learning styles, motivation, abilities and strengths.

- The type of programme: therapeutic programmes tend to be more effective than those that are primarily focused on punitive and control approaches. Therapeutic approaches include:
 - skills building (e.g. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy; social skills);
 - restorative (e.g. restitution; victim-offender mediation);
 - counselling (e.g. for individuals, groups and families) and mentoring in some contexts.
- The use of multiple services: addressing a range of offending related risks and needs rather than a single factor. Case management and service brokerage can also be important.
- Programme implementation: quality and amount of service provided and fidelity to programme design.
- The wider offending context: considering family, peers and community issues.

Community, Custody and Resettlement

When applying risk based or other approaches to inform rehabilitation planning, it should be borne in mind that some young people will desist from crime without any intervention. There is also evidence to suggest that drawing young people who commit low level offences into the formal youth justice system may increase their offending. Therefore, diversionary approaches, including restorative justice, which direct these individuals away from the formal justice system may be appropriate for some young people.

Within the community, effective programmes can be characterised by strong inter-agency partnerships that are well managed, with appropriate strategic leadership. Partnership protocols need to be embedded into routine practice. The best international evidence shows that family based therapeutic interventions that draw on the community and also consider wider offender needs can be effective and deliver a positive net return on investment. That said, the family can itself be a setting of trauma, abuse and exploitation and this may be particularly relevant for those young people who come to the attention of youth offending teams. This, therefore, needs to be considered as part of intervention planning for young people who offend.

Community based interventions tend to be more effective than custody. Some young people will, however, always need to be sentenced to custody and these young people are likely to be those in most need of intensive intervention. Where appropriate, consideration should be given to moving young people to well trained foster carers. Good quality supervision in

custody also requires planning for release and resettlement to be an integral part of the sentence, and for young people's needs to be assessed in terms of transition back to the community. Brokers or advocates who will help guide young people through this transition and be available whenever needed are worth considering.

Prison visitation programmes aimed at young people at risk of offending were not found to reduce offending behaviour; conversely, they may increase the likelihood of committing crime. Military style 'boot camps' run as alternative to custody were also found not to reduce reoffending.

No one style of talking with or to young people is going to resonate either with all staff or all those in their care. However, there is some consensus that effective communication is characterised by mutual understanding, respect, and fairness. Motivational interviewing and other techniques that allow a young person to confront the consequences of his or her actions can be useful when deployed in conjunction with other support and individual therapies.

Finally, in all settings young people need to be encouraged to develop agency, autonomy, and respect for others as well as themselves. This requires commitment from staff as well as the young people themselves. Care should be taken to make sure that young people understand how they arrived at their position, and how to move forward.

1. Introduction

Over the last decade, there have been substantial reductions in the number of young people entering the youth justice system, including those entering the system for the first time and those sentenced to custody. The proven reoffending rate for young people has, however, remained the highest across all age groups. Therefore, this review was commissioned by the Ministry of Justice to support youth justice policy development and practice. The findings are timely given that a Review of the Youth Justice System was announced in autumn 2015 which aims to consider the 'efficiency and effectiveness of the youth justice system in preventing offending, identify effective practice and make recommendations for improvement.'

1.1 Aims

This report aims to review the international literature to identify 'what works' in managing young people who have offended. It focuses on the impact, efficacy and delivery of youth justice supervision and interventions. This is considered within the community, secure settings and during transition into adult justice settings or into mainstream society. It does not, however, include studies that focus on early years prevention programmes, crime prevention or reduction strategies or community based approaches that did not involve the direct management of young people who have offended. These types of approaches and interventions have been reviewed in recent years.⁴

1.2 Approach

A Rapid Evidence Assessment (REA) of the international literature was conducted. An REA is a systematic and timely way of gathering, reviewing and synthesising evidence to answer policy and practice questions about what is effective.⁵

_

Youth Justice Board / Ministry of Justice. (2015) Youth Justice Statistics 2013/14. Youth Justice Board. Between the peak in the number of young people in the youth justices system (2006/07) and 2013/14, the following reductions have been observed: first time entrants to the youth justice have reduced by 81%; the number of youth cases in the criminal courts has fallen by 65%; and, the average number of 10 to 17 year olds in the youth secure estate has fallen by 64% and is now around 1,000.

Ministry of Justice. (2015). Proven offending statistics January 2013 to December 2013. Ministry of Justice. In 2013, the overall proven reoffending for all offenders was 26.5% and for those aged 10 to 17 years it was 37.9%. The highest rates were for 10 to 14 year olds (38.4%), closely followed by 15 to 17 year olds (37.8%). Those aged 50 and over had the lowest rate (13.1%).

Ministry of Justice. (2015) The Youth Justice Review: terms of reference (pg 1):

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/youth-justice-review-terms-of-reference Included for context. See Allen, 2011; Ross et al., 2011.

⁵ See the following website for further detail on REAs: http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/networks/gsr/resources-and-guidance/rapid-evidence-assessment/what-is

In line with English and Welsh youth justice sentencing, young people were taken to be 10-17 years old when considering initial intervention, programmes and supervision, and up to 21 years old when considering transitions into the adult criminal justice system and resettlement post release from custody. Evidence was considered from any country if studies were reported in English, and published between 1st January 1990 and 28th February 2014. An exception to these criteria was made for seminal studies or where recent systematic reviews or meta-analyses presented relevant findings for broader age ranges (e.g. young adults up to the age of 21 or 25).

Where possible, UK estimates on the return on investment for the various interventions have been incorporated into this report. The Social Research Unit (SRU), at Dartington in England, has conducted analysis that is based on the economic benefit-cost model developed by Washington State Institute for Public Policy (WSIPP) in the United States. The SRU recalculated the WSIPP cost estimates based on UK information and these figures are presented, where relevant, throughout the findings sections of this report.

1.3 Weight of evidence

Materials were sifted using a Weight of Evidence (WoE) process. A WoE approach is taken to facilitate systematic judgements about the methodological quality of potential materials and their relevance to the specified research questions.

Two WoE scales were used to indicate the strength of evidence: the Maryland Scientific Methods Scales (MSMS), and an adapted form of the Evidence for Policy and Practice Information and Co-ordinating Centre (EPPI) scale. The MSMS approach⁷ assesses the design and validity of outcome studies, which aim to answer 'what works' questions, and takes a randomised controlled trial (RCT) as the 'gold standard'. Scores are allocated for each study from one to five, with five being the most robust. Studies that were assigned a MSMS of three or more on the design scale were included in this review to provide evidence on impact.

Washington State Institute for Public Policy (WSIPP) maintains and publishes information that considers the monetary and social returns of criminal justice interventions and their relative efficacy. The findings are based upon international systematic reviews and meta-analysis, with most studies originating from the USA. For more information please see the cost-benefit information on the WSIPP website:

http://www.wsipp.wa.gov/BenefitCost.

⁷ Sherman et al., 1998.

The adapted EPPI approach⁸ was also used to assess the relevance and methodology of the evidence. This scale was used to consider other quantitative and qualitative studies which can provide context and information on how programmes and interventions can be implemented to offer the best chance of success. The overall EPPI scale scores studies from one to three, with three the most robust. Studies which employed the following methods were included in this review based on the criteria set out below:

- qualitative evidence: scored two or more on the EPPI overall scale. These types
 of studies were not scored against the MSMS; and,
- quantitative or mixed methods: scored two or more on the overall EPPI scale.
 They were also, for information purposes, allocated a MSMS score; however, this was not used to inform study inclusion decisions.

The MSMS design score and the adapted overall EPPI score for each study referenced in this REA are included in footnotes throughout the report.

In addition, this REA draws upon (where possible) and places more weight on the findings from relevant meta-analyses that are based on good quality outcome evaluation studies⁹ to answer 'what works' questions. A meta-analysis is a statistical technique that combines the results from a number of independent studies to obtain a quantitative estimate of the overall effect of a particular intervention on a defined outcome. Meta-analysis produces a statistically stronger conclusion than can be provided by any individual study and, therefore, more emphasis is usually placed on results from this type of analysis.

Further details on the methodological approach, including the number of studies included in this REA, are set out in Appendix B (see Table B.2). Descriptions of the interventions set out in the study are described in the glossary in Appendix A.

Horvath et al., 2013.

Good quality is defined in this REA as scoring three or more on the design scale of the MSMS unless otherwise stated. Meta-analyses typically draw upon the findings from a systematic review of the evidence base.

1.4 Points to consider when interpreting findings

There are some limitations to this REA that should be noted when interpreting findings.

- Materials not produced in English were not considered.
- The majority of the materials were international, with most studies originating from the United States. Therefore, the transferability of findings to the English and Welsh context should be considered given the often different:
 - legal and sentencing frameworks;
 - crime, offending and reoffending definitions and measurement; and,
 - different economic and social contexts (including the extent and nature of welfare benefit systems).
- The majority of the studies included draw on white males in the upper range of the 10 to 17 year old age group (e.g. 15 to 17 year olds) and some findings may not be relevant to, or appropriate for, other population groups (e.g. young women, black and other minority ethnic groups or younger age groups such as 10 to 14 year olds). Even in reviewed studies including two genders, or those studies with ethnically representative samples, disaggregation of data was frequently limited, which means that potential gender and ethnicity differences in outcomes may not be apparent.
- Use of two WoE approaches was designed to encompass a diverse range of quantitative and qualitative methodologies. However, each essentially assesses the quality of evaluation, rather than the intervention. As such, potentially successful interventions may have been excluded from this review.
- Most findings are based on group averages (means) and, therefore, the effect (if any) will vary depending on the characteristics and circumstances of individuals in receipt of the intervention.
- Additionally, even when a high quality study (e.g. 4 or 5 on the MSMS) shows strong group effects in those programmes evaluated, these may not always be replicated on subsequent roll out. This could be due to socio-economic, contextual or juridical differences, or to other factors including fidelity of implementation, differences in staffing, and motivation or compliance of young people.
- Lastly, it is worth bearing in mind that across the studies reviewed, there was a
 wide variation in the nature of comparison groups and in the interventions against
 which evaluated programmes were compared. The overall confidence in
 conclusions drawn takes such difficulties into account.

2. Key elements of effective intervention

Summary of findings

International reviews of the rehabilitation evidence found that the most successful interventions to reduce reoffending among young people included a number of elements. The most effective approaches:

- assessed the likelihood or risk of an individual reoffending and, importantly, matched services to that risk level with a focus on those who are assessed as having a higher likelihood of reoffending;
- considered the needs and strengths of the individual and their ability to respond to the intervention;
- were characterised by using a combination of skills training and cognitive behavioural intervention approaches, rather than deploying primarily punitive or surveillance focussed programmes;
- considered the amount and quality of service provided and programme fidelity. The wider offending context, such as family, peers and community issues, should also be taken into account;
- employed a multi-modal design with a broad range of interventions that address a number of offending related risks. Case management and service brokerage can also be important; and
- made sure communication between staff and young people was strengthened through mutual understanding, respect, and fairness.

The findings drawn on in this section are principally from sources that were synthesised according to the principles stated in Chapter 2 (and Appendix B). In some cases, findings have been considered from studies that fell outside the scope of the REA. In each such case, a footnote has been included to highlight the reasons for inclusion and potential limitations.

An international systematic review and meta-analysis of international interventions¹⁰ highlighted certain programme elements which were associated with reducing reoffending in young people. These elements were:

- risk level of targeted individual;
- type of programme: therapeutic versus control approaches; and,
- quality and amount of service.

2.1 Risk level of targeted young offenders

The same meta-analysis found there was little overall difference in interventions' outcomes that were associated with the demographic characteristics of age, gender, and ethnicity. There was, however, one characteristic that did show an overall relationship when compared to the comparison group. Namely, those interventions applied to high risk offenders produced larger average (mean) recidivism reductions than when interventions were applied to low risk offenders. This finding can, perhaps, be explained by data indicating that high risk young offender groups were more likely to have high reoffending rates and therefore there was more opportunity for the received intervention to demonstrate change. Conversely, low risk young offenders were less likely to reoffend even without interventions and therefore there was less likelihood of detecting effects of interventions on their offending behaviour.

Risk level of targeted young offenders: Risk, Needs and Responsivity

The model of 'Risk, Needs and Responsivity' (RNR) has been widely adopted within both the youth and wider justice system. A number of international meta-analyses have shown that, if the model is implemented properly, reductions in reoffending can be detected.¹² The core principles of this approach focus on:

risk: assessing the likelihood or risk of an individual reoffending, and importantly
matching services to that risk level – focusing on those people who are assessed
as having a higher likelihood of reoffending;

See Lipsey, 2009; Lipsey et al., 2010. The 2009 systematic review and meta-analysis should strictly be out of scope for this project due to included age range of offenders (12-21 years); however, as they are seminal papers in the youth justice literature they have been included here for completeness. The data included in the meta-analysis is derived from 548 outcome evaluation studies from 1958 to 2002. A programme's effect was measured on at least one crime or offending related outcome variable (e.g. re-arrest, reconviction). The outcomes of the target intervention programme were directly compared to a control group of similar young offenders who did not receive the intervention. Most studies were from the USA.

This finding is supported by a number of meta-analyses, see for example, Andrews & Bonta, 2010 (a review of a number of meta-analyses which focuses mainly on adult offenders although it does present findings for young offenders that are relevant to this review); Koehler et al., 2013 a & b (strictly out of scope as includes young people up to age 25 but included as a highly relevant and recent meta-analysis of European interventions).

For example see, Andrews et al., 1990; Andrews & Bonta, 2010; Koehler et al., 2013b (meta-analysis).

- need: focusing attention on those attributes that are predictive of offending
 (i.e. criminogenic needs) and ensuring that they are targeted in the individual's
 rehabilitation plan; and
- responsivity: maximise the individual's ability to learn from a rehabilitative intervention by providing cognitive behavioural treatment (CBT) and tailoring the intervention to individual learning style, motivation, abilities and strengths.
 Consideration should also be given to their age, gender and ethnicity.

In England and Wales the predominance of the RNR approach has, in part, resulted in a Scaled Approach (via ASSET, a structured youth justice assessment tool¹³), which was developed by the Youth Justice Board. This approach is intended for use by Youth Offending Teams (YOTs) to help make sure that resources are targeted at those young people who have the greatest risk of reoffending. It is also intended to be used to assess the young person's offending related needs, which in turn should be used to determine the nature and intensity of support provided.¹⁴

A Ministry of Justice study¹⁵ of young people managed by YOTs assessed how well ASSET predicted future proven offending (i.e. predictive validity). Results showed that ASSET was a good predictor of one year proven reoffending. These findings broadly replicated those reported by previous studies of the predictive validity of ASSET.¹⁶ Also, a small scale UK study of the Priority Young Offenders programme, which focused on continual assessment of risks and needs to refine and change the level and types of individual intervention, showed positive effects in terms of reoffending against a comparison group.¹⁷

Gender effects may also be relevant to the RNR approach. In a Canadian study, the RNR assessment tool was found to predict recidivism equally well for male and female youth;

.

ASSET assesses a young person's static and dynamic offending related risks and needs. Static factors are those that do not change over time (e.g. criminal history) and dynamic factors are those that can change (e.g. drug use).

See YJB guidance on the Scaled Approach:
http://yjbpublications.justice.gov.uk/Resources/Downloads/Youth%20Justice%20the%20Scaled%20Approach%20-%20A%20framework%20for%20assessment%20and%20interventions.pdf

Wilson & Hinks, 2011 (MSMS design 2; EPPI overall 2). The study utilised a representative sample of 13,975 young people managed by 30 Youth Offending Teams in England and Wales between February 2008 and January 2009. Results are based on a logistic regression model and a standard statistical measure of predictive accuracy (Area Under the Curve (AUC)) was calculated. Both static (a combined measure including criminal history and density of offending) and a combination of dynamic factors (e.g. motivation to stop offending) predicted further proven reoffending.

¹⁶ See Baker et al., 2003; 2005.

¹⁷ Nee & Ellis, 2005 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3).

however, the matching of rehabilitation services to RNR factors was significantly associated with reduced reoffending for boys but not for girls.¹⁸

The YJB's approach to resourcing risk and rehabilitation intervention planning has been debated (as has RNR). ¹⁹ For example, some academics ²⁰ conclude that it has encouraged an actuarial approach to risk assessment and intervention. ²¹ Therefore, they have, advocated a more child focused and strengths based approach that aims to facilitate practitioner expertise and discretion around the level and nature of support provided to a young person. This has some similarities to the 'Good Lives Model', which focuses on individual offender strengths rather than primarily focusing on risks, and has been mainly considered for adult offenders. ²²

The concept of the 'age-crime curve' (i.e. a sharp increase in offending during early adolescence, peaking during mid-late teenage years, then declining steeply at first, to the mid-20s and, thereafter, more steadily) is widely acknowledged by academics. ²³ It is relevant when considering RNR, or other approaches, as it suggests that some young people will eventually desist from crime without intervention. Mindful of this, some academics have indicated that there is the potential to pre-emptively stigmatise young people based on assumptions about what they might do in the future. There is evidence which indicates that where young people are brought into the formal criminal justice system for low level crime this may increase their likelihood of reoffending. ²⁴ This suggests that approaches that divert young people away from the formal youth justice system at this stage may be appropriate (see also Section 4.1 which sets out the evidence for diversionary approaches). ²⁵

-

¹⁸ Vitopoulos et al., 2012 (MSMS design, 2; EPPI overall 2).

¹⁹ At the time of writing, the YJB was in the process of rolling out a revised version of ASSET called ASSET PLUS which aims to facilitate, amongst other things, more practitioner flexibility around risk assessment and intervention planning.

See for example, Haines & Case, 2012 (MSMS design 2; EPPI overall 3). Haines et al., 2013 (MSMS design 2; EPPI overall 3). Included for context.

Other issues raised about the RNR approach include that it does not sufficiently recognise offender strengths, differences due to gender, and lacks attention to personal wellbeing.

The Good Lives Model, although in some respects broadly consistent with elements of the RNR approach, incorporates a stronger focus on offenders' strengths and goals. It has been suggested that this can help increase the motivation of offenders to complete treatment but more research is required into its effects in practice. See for example, Ward & Brown, 2014; Willis & Ward, 2013.

See for example, Smith, 2007; McVie, 2009. These references have been included to provide context. Findings suggest that different types of interventions may be required at different stages in the life course. There is debate around the consistency of the age-crime curve across time, jurisdictions and the degree of similarity between genders.

See for example, McAra & McVie, 2007; Petrosino et al., 2010 (meta-analysis). Studies included for context.

²⁵ See for example Wilson & Hoge, 2012 (meta-analysis).

2.2 Type of programme: therapeutic approaches

The Lipsey (2009) international review classified the various programmes into broad categories based on their philosophy and general approach. The results showed that 'therapeutic' interventions were generally more effective at reducing reoffending than those that were primarily focused on punitive or control based approaches (e.g. interventions orientated towards instilling discipline or deterrence through fear of consequences of undesirable behaviour). These findings have been replicated in other meta-analyses.²⁶

Therapeutic based interventions included:

- skills building (e.g. cognitive-behavioural techniques (CBT); social skills);
- restorative (e.g. restitution; victim-offender mediation); and
- counselling (e.g. for individuals, groups and families); and mentoring in some contexts can be effective.

The review also concluded that rehabilitation services that employ a multi-modal design involving a broad range of interventions that address a number of offending related risks and needs can be more effective than those that address a single factor. Case management and service brokerage can also be important (see service matched to needs section below).

2.3 Quality of service

Another key factor related to the magnitude of intervention effects was programme implementation. The key ingredients for effective rehabilitation are set out below.

- Intervention matched to offender needs: ensuring that offending related needs, motivation and learning styles were considered when determining the type of programme and nature of the support provided.²⁷
- Quality of implementation: although not directly measured by the studies reviewed, indicators such as high dropout rates, staff turnover, poorly trained personnel and incomplete service delivery were associated with smaller reoffending reductions.
- Fidelity (i.e. delivery of the programme as intended): for example, when the programme developer was involved in programme implementation, the effects were generally found to be larger.

See for example, Bonta & Andrews, 2010; Koehler et al., 2013b (meta-analysis).

A number of meta-analyses support this finding. See for example, Koehler et al., 2013b (meta-analysis), Andrew & Bonta, 2010 (review).

Duration and intensity: ensuring that each person received the 'full dose' of the intended intervention. There was also some evidence that longer programmes (i.e. over six months) may be more effective than shorter interventions for serious youth offenders.²⁸

2.4 Service matched to individual offender needs

Results from a number of longitudinal studies and meta-analyses²⁹ have identified both static and dynamic factors that can predict further offending among young people. Also, findings show that rehabilitation services need to be matched to an individual's offending related risks and needs to have the best chance of realising behaviour change. Therefore, rehabilitation should aim to target and address 'dynamic' factors (i.e. those that can change over time, e.g. an individual's drug use or motivation to change). For example, consideration should be given to providing interventions and support that can bolster self-esteem and resilience, appropriately challenge and change certain ways of thinking, increase skills, and facilitate viable alternative options to an individual's lifestyle. It can also be important to consider an individual's age, gender, and ethnic group. Furthermore, the wider context within which the offending occurred (e.g. family, peers and the local community) needs to be taken into account when planning and delivering rehabilitation services.

A Ministry of Justice study³⁰ of young people managed by YOTs found that overall there was room to improve the alignment between offending related risks and needs, aims in the intervention plan and subsequent supervision. YOTs were better at addressing certain factors (e.g. lifestyle, perception of self and others, thinking and behaviour, attitudes to offending and motivation to change) than others (e.g. neighbourhood, living arrangements, family and personal relationships).

²⁸ See Lipsey, 1999 (meta-analysis); Lipsey et al., 2010, included for context.

See for example, Welsh & Farrington, 2007 for a discussion on risk and protective factors associated with youth crime and offending. Andrews & Bonta, 2010 also provide an overview of risk and protective factors that can predict future offending regardless of age and gender. Included for context.

Wilson, 2013 (MSMS design 2: EPPI overall 2). This study utilised a representative sample of 13,975 young people managed by 30 Youth Offending Teams in England and Wales between February 2008 and January 2009. Results, based on logistic regression, showed that the following dynamic risk factors were statistically significant predictors of one year proven reoffending: life style, substance use, and motivation to change. Other factors such as living arrangements, family and personal relationships and education, employment and training were also statistically significant at a less stringent p value.

2.5 Practitioner interactions with young people who offend – the 'therapeutic alliance'

The importance of practitioner ways of working with young people, the 'therapeutic alliance', both in secure institutions and the community, is emphasised in qualitative research.³¹ Where young people are asked their views, they tend to value a relationship that is warm, open, and non-judgemental, indicating that this helps them to engage with the intervention and work towards change.³²

Assessments of therapeutic engagement within secure institutions show that when young people demonstrate commitment to an institution (by following suggestions and instructions from staff) and they believe that they are likely to succeed (commitment likelihood), they are more likely to stay engaged in interventions and ultimately benefit from them.³³ Furthermore, Andrews and Bonta (2010) indicate that practitioner training, experience and supervision are important if the benefits from an intervention are to be realised.³⁴

2.6 Multi-agency working

Young people have diverse needs relating to their offending and vary in their ability to respond to interventions. Agencies involved in their management need to embed practices to provide supervision that is coordinated, accountable and ensures that each young person's circumstances are effectively managed. Multi-agency approaches involve a range of structures, from the development of multi-agency protocols to co-location or the integration of services. This variation, and the fact that multiple agencies are involved, presents challenges, both for evaluating these approaches, and for synthesis of the evidence. For example, it can be difficult to identify the specific contribution of multi-agency working when it forms part of an intervention programme, which is often the case.

Jane, 2010 (qualitative; EPPI overall 2); England, 2009 (qualitative; EPPI overall 3); Halse et al., 2012 (qualitative; EPPI overall 3); Larkins & Wainwright, 2013 (qualitative; EPPI overall 3); Lambie et al., 2012 (qualitative; EPPI overall 2).

Halse et al., 2012 (qualitative; EPPI overall 3); England, 2009 (qualitative; EPPI overall 3).

Pullman et al., 2006 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3); Dowden & Andrews (meta-analysis).

See also Lipsey, 2009 (meta-analysis); Lipsey et al., 2010.

Most of the evidence to support multi-agency working comes from process evaluations and qualitative assessments and it is generally perceived to be a key component for service provision, especially to those who are vulnerable or potentially have a wide range of needs (e.g. young offenders). Multi-agency working involves different professional and sometimes voluntary groups, with varying cultures of practice and lines of accountability. Without proper partnership protocols and strategic leadership, inter-agency cooperation and cross referral routes may develop in a piecemeal way with both excellent and poor practices evolving in isolation. Inspection reports of YOTs and the youth secure estate in England and Wales have noted the challenges of implementing effective multi-agency working.

-

See for example, Home Office, 2013; Phillips et al., 2012 (EPPI overall 2); Powell et al., 2012 (MSMS design 2; EPPI overall 3).

³⁶ See for example, Criminal Justice Joint Inspection, 2010 (qualitative, EPPI overall 2); Calderbank et al., 2013 (qualitative; EPPI overall 3).

3. Intervention effectiveness across the youth justice pathway

Summary of findings

This review highlighted a number of interventions and approaches, based on international evidence, which can be used in multiple settings across the youth justice pathway to reduce reoffending.

- For those individuals who agree to take part in restorative justice and where it is appropriate to deliver these approaches, there is promising evidence that it can reduce reoffending in young people.
- Cognitive Behavioural Therapy approaches can produce reductions in reoffending and deliver a net positive return on investment.
- Other individual counselling and behavioural programmes like Motivational Interviewing can be considered to support desistance.
- There is some evidence that mentoring can be an effective intervention, particularly when used early on in a young person's potential offending career.

The following interventions can be implemented at multiple stages of the youth justice pathway, including custodial settings. These interventions and approaches are typically delivered as part of broader programmes and evidence suggests that this is the best way to deliver support services to young offenders to achieve success.³⁷

3.1 Restorative Justice

Definitions vary as to what constitutes restorative justice (RJ); however, most RJ interventions place those who have been victimised more centrally within the justice process, whilst attempting to repair the harm a crime has caused. The two most prevalent restorative techniques are Victim Offender Mediation (VOM) and Family Group Conferences (FGCs), both of which are most commonly implemented in community settings; however, they can also be administered within custody. VOM requires at least one meeting to take place between the offender and victim, with the mediator present, with the aim of producing a restitution or restorative plan. FGCs aim to bring together the offender and the victim, their families, and other relevant parties (e.g. police, social worker). (See Glossary for further descriptions of VOM and FGC.)

³⁷ See for example Lipsey, 2009 (meta-analysis); Lipsey et al., 2010.

For those individuals who agree to take part in RJ and where it is appropriate to deliver these approaches, there is promising evidence that it can reduce reoffending in young people.³⁸ A meta-analysis of VOM and FGC international studies among young people found that these interventions produced reductions in reoffending that may be twice as great as would otherwise be expected from evaluations of other youth justice interventions. The quality of the studies included in this meta-analysis mean that conclusions must be treated with some caution.³⁹

Table 3.1 summarises the cost estimates for the UK in relation to VOM. They are based on international impact evidence and the Dartington Social Research Unit has recalculated the USA costs using information from the UK.⁴⁰ Taken together, the results suggest that VOM yields a net benefit of £471 and a low risk of loss to the investor (4%).⁴¹

Table 3.1 Benefit-cost estimates (UK): Victim Offender Mediation (VOM)

Intervention	Cost	Total benefits	Benefits minus costs	Benefit - cost ratio	Rate of return on investment	Risk of loss
VOM	£6,335	£6,806	£471	£1.07	6%	4%

FGCs have been found to lower recidivism rates, or at least time to reoffend, by up to 24 months when compared to outcomes for other diversionary schemes including teen court, community service and VOM. 42 However, when young people were followed up over a long time period (i.e. 12 years), differences dissipated. 43 FGCs seem to be particularly effective with young girls who have offended, and have not been shown to have a differential impact on young people of different ethnicities in an international study. 44 Also, programmes in the USA similar to FGCs (Community Justice Committees) have been shown to be particularly effective for girls and young offenders or those with shorter criminal histories. 45 In contrast, an RJ intervention implemented in the USA was associated with increased time to re-offend

17

Bradshaw & Roseborough, 2005 (meta-analysis); Latimer et al., 2005 (meta-analysis; not strictly in scope as 26 of the 35 RJ programs evaluated were for young people, but noted as an important meta-analysis in RJ interventions); Strang et al., 2013 (meta-analysis; not strictly in scope as only 3 of the 10 included experiments were among young people aged under 18 years. However, a separate effect size is reported for young people (the average effect for young people was less than for adults)).

Bradshaw & Roseborough, 2005 (meta-analysis).

The Social Research Unit, 2012; 2013 cost-benefit analysis is based on the economic model developed by the Washington State Institute for Public Policy (WSIPP) in the USA. Cost estimates have been recalculated using UK costs. See SRU Investing in Children website for more information: http://investinginchildren.eu/search/interventions/treatment.

See Glossary (Appendix A) 'Cost-benefit analysis and estimate' section for an explanation of the terms included in the table.

McGarrell & Hipple, 2007 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3; a particularly rigorous, RCT design).

Jeong et al., 2012 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 2). The authors note that this is perhaps unsurprising given the short timescale of the intervention (typically less than an hour).

⁴⁴ Baffour, 2006 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3).

⁴⁵ Rodriguez, 2007 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 2).

compared to traditional court processing, regardless of age at referral, gender, ethnicity, or prior offending history.⁴⁶

Restorative justice techniques have also been associated with high levels of satisfaction from victims, ⁴⁷ and positive perceptions from offenders regarding repaying the victim and society. ⁴⁸

3.2 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy

Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) is intended to adjust both thoughts and attitudes (cognitions) of the young person, so that this will, in turn, lead to changes in behaviour. CBT approaches are used across a wide range of interventions but they have also been used to develop specific accredited programmes e.g. Reasoning and Rehabilitation (R&R)⁴⁹ and Aggression Replacement Training (ART). CBT is also a key component of risk, needs and responsivity approaches (see section 2.2).

A number of international meta-analyses have consistently demonstrated that, overall, CBT approaches produce some of the largest effects on reducing reoffending in young people when the age range is taken as being up to 25. However, individual evaluations that have considered the effects on young people just up to age 18 have produced more equivocal findings regarding reoffending outcomes. Some of the variance in outcome may be associated with young people's abilities to respond to the intervention. Findings from an international evaluation demonstrated that younger boys had better outcomes with more structured, less interactive forms of cognitive behavioural therapy whilst older boys had better outcomes when this was supplemented with more interactive, group based processing.

Other international evaluations have demonstrated positive effects in the community. For example, participation in a group community based CBT programme resulted in fewer

⁴⁶ Bergseth & Bouffard, 2013 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 2).

See for example, Strang et al., 2013 (meta-analysis).

⁴⁸ Kim & Gerber, 2012 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 2).

R&R was originally developed for adults, but has since been adapted for use with young people.

See for example, Lipsey, 2009 (meta-analysis); Koehler et al., 2013b (meta-analysis). These systematic reviews and meta-analyses should strictly be out of scope for this project. As, however, they are a recent assessment of the evidence base they have been included here for completeness.

See for example, Ford & Hawke, 2012 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 2); Mitchell & Palmer, 2004 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 2). Note that both these studies involved CBT administered to young people whilst in custody.

Martsch, 2005 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 2).

criminal charges compared to comparison groups.⁵³ However, in England, a small scale evaluation of R&R in young people in custody did not reveal any significant differences in reconviction or re-imprisonment between those who received R&R and those who did not.⁵⁴

Table 3.2 summarises the cost estimates in relation to ART. They are based on international impact evidence and the Dartington Social Research Unit has recalculated the USA costs using information from the UK.⁵⁵ Taken together, they suggest that ART yields a net benefit of £26,253 and a low to medium risk of loss to the investor (13%).⁵⁶

Table 3.2 Benefit-cost estimates (UK): Aggression Replacement Training (ART)

Intervention	Cost	Total benefits	Benefits minus costs	Benefit cost ratio	Rate of return on investment	Risk of loss
ART	£1,262	£27,515	£26,253	£21.80	806%	13%

Another American programme, EQUIP,⁵⁷ was implemented in secure settings and was designed to introduce a higher degree of therapeutic intervention. It initially demonstrated improvement on proxy indicators of reduced recidivism, such as improved social skills, and the rate of reoffending was significantly reduced in the EQUIP group at 12 months post-release compared to control groups.⁵⁸ However, a subsequent trial, which also involved longer follow up, showed that EQUIP may have contributed to faster times to re-offend than in the comparison group.⁵⁹

There are some innovative modes of support that have been developed to supplement CBT. One technique centres on an automated phone coach system where young people typically receive two calls a day for a year, and answer questions to help monitor and support their progress. ⁶⁰ Initial studies provide indicative evidence that such an approach can reduce reoffending in young people; however sample sizes were small and other potential explanations for the findings (e.g. increased internal motivation) cannot be ruled out. ⁶¹

⁵⁴ Mitchell & Palmer, 2004 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 2; sample size of 62).

⁵³ Jewell et al., 2013 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 2).

The Social Research Unit, 2012; 2013; cost-benefit analysis is based on the economic model developed by the Washington State Institute for Public Policy (WSIPP) in the USA.

See Glossary (Appendix A) 'Cost-benefit analysis and estimate' section for an explanation of the terms included in the table.

⁵⁷ EQUIP addresses cognitive distortions, anger management, moral development and social skills. Part of the EQUIP training programme is based on Aggression Replacement Training (ART).

Leeman et al., 1993 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3).

⁵⁹ Brugman & Bink, 2011; (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 2).

Burraston et al., 2012 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 2).

Burraston et al., 2013 (MSMS design 3, EPPI overall 3).

3.3 Motivational Interviewing

Motivational Interviewing (MI) is a form of collaborative dialogue between a practitioner and client. It is typically used with individuals who are ambivalent about taking steps to change certain behaviours. It is a technique that is used to help individuals confront the consequences of their actions and decisions whilst being guided through ways to resolve challenges. It is possible to combine MI with other practices such as CBT. International systematic reviews and meta-analyses have shown that MI can outperform traditional advice giving for a broad range of behavioural problems (e.g. smoking, alcohol misuse, drug taking, physical exercise and eating habits) among clients of both genders of various ages, including adolescents.⁶²

Based on the small number of studies reviewed, there is promising international evidence which supports the use of MI for young people who offend. In a wide ranging Randomised Controlled Trial (RCT) in the USA, training was provided to probation case managers covering a number of evidence based practices to engage young people (e.g. MI and OARS (Open ended questions, Affirmations, Reflective listening, Summarizations)). When staff were provided with enhanced training in these methods, the young people they supervised showed lower rates of recidivism over a 12 month period. Furthermore, a pilot programme in California found that young people were more engaged and satisfied with MI when it was run alongside treatment as usual, and outcomes were similar.

3.4 Mentoring

Although definitions of mentoring interventions vary in the literature, it usually involves meetings between a young person and a positive role model (mentor) who can provide guidance and support to the young person.

A number of recent reviews and meta-analyses of mentoring interventions have reported small but significant reductions in anti-social or offending behaviour⁶⁵ and reoffending.⁶⁶ Given, however, the variability of the type of scheme implemented, the limited detail included in studies of what mentoring activity involved and what were the key characteristics for

20

-

Systematic reviews and meta-analyses included for context. See for example, Rubak et al., 2005; Lundahl & Burke, 2009. Motivational Interviewing is probably not applicable to very young children or those with reduced cognitive capacity, as with other therapies that require evaluation or insight.

Young et al., 2012 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3).

D'Amico et al., 2013 (MSMS design 5, EPPI overall 2).

⁶⁵ Tolan et al., 2008; 2013 (meta-analysis).

Joliffe & Farrington, 2008 (review).

successful implementation a degree of caution must be applied when interpreting findings. Mindful of this, the findings should be regarded as promising.

Positive recidivism outcomes were reported in the Tolan et al., 2013 international metaanalysis of mentoring initiatives, although there was wide variation in outcomes across the included studies. This analysis compared the effect of mentoring on delinquency (including offending and anti-social behaviour), aggression, drug use and academic functioning and found that the strongest effects were for reducing delinquency. A rapid review and metaanalysis by Jolliffe and Farrington (2008) similarly reported some positive outcomes: mentoring was found to reduce reoffending by between four and 10 per cent.

Mentoring has been implemented throughout the criminal justice pathway but there is some evidence that it is most likely to be effective when used early on in a young person's potential offending career. Qualitative evidence suggests that mentoring may be more effective with young people at the cautioning stage than with persistent young offenders with particularly chaotic lifestyles. The national evaluation of the Youth Justice Board Mentoring Schemes, which ran between 2001 and 2004, failed to find any reduction in offending for a sample of mentees in comparison to a matched control group. One of the recommendations resulting from this evaluation was that delivering mentoring to young age groups who were at risk of offending may be more effective.

The strength of the mentoring relationship seems to be a critical factor in reducing reoffending. An international meta-analysis⁷⁰ found stronger effects when emotional support was emphasised within mentoring interventions. Where meetings lasted longer and took place once a week (as opposed to less frequently), mentoring had a greater effect on reducing re-offending. More equivocal findings have also been noted where mentoring relationships break down.⁷¹

Jolliffe & Farrington, 2008 (systematic review).

⁶⁸ Tarling et al., 2004 (review).

⁶⁹ St James-Roberts et al., (2005) (MSMS design 3, EPPI overall 3)

Tolan et al., 2013 (meta-analysis).

⁷¹ Tarling et al., 2004 (review).

There is some evidence suggesting that stand alone mentoring may not be as effective as mentoring delivered as part of a wider set of interventions. The Mowever, most studies included in the synthesis did not consider mentoring in isolation from other interventions. A study by Blechman et al., The diversion components by assigning young people to diversion, diversion plus skills training, the diversion plus mentoring. The diversion plus skills training intervention led to a significant reduction in reoffending, with 37 per cent of young people re-arrested in comparison to 51 per cent in the diversion plus mentoring group. Cost-effectiveness analysis showed that when skills training was used in preference to mentoring, savings were found to be in the region of \$336 per young person.

Jolliffe & Farrington, 2008 (systematic review).

⁷³ Blechman et al., 2000 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 3).

Those assigned to skills training received weekly 2 hour long classes involving anger management, personal responsibility, and decision making classes (for 4 weeks).

⁷⁵ Blechman et al., 2000 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 3).

4. Intervention effectiveness within specific youth justice settings

Summary of findings

The following interventions and approaches, based on international evidence, can be considered at specific stages and contexts within the youth justice rehabilitation setting to reduce reoffending.

- Diversionary approaches may be appropriate for young people who commit low level offences given that some will desist from crime without intervention and drawing these young people into the formal youth justice system may increase their offending.
- Within the community, family based therapeutic interventions that draw on the community and consider wider offender needs can be effective and deliver a positive net return on investment.
- Community based interventions tend to be more effective than custody. Where
 custody is necessary, consideration should be given in some cases to moving
 young people to well trained foster carers. Young people in custody are likely to
 require intensive support to help them to desist from offending.
- Good quality supervision in custody also requires planning for release and resettlement to be an integral part of the sentence. Brokers or advocates who will help guide young people through transition and be available whenever needed are worth considering.
- Prison visitation programmes aimed at young people at risk of offending were not found to reduce offending behaviour; indeed, findings show that they can increase the likelihood of committing crime. Also, military style 'boot camps' run as an alternative to custody were not found to reduce reoffending.

In this section, findings are structured according to the pathway through the youth justice system. The aim is to aid practitioners and policy makers to navigate to interventions in specific youth justice contexts. Findings are presented for the following key stages: diversion away from courts; courts and sentencing; family and community interventions; secure settings; and post custodial release resettlement.

4.1 Diversion

This section focuses on diversionary interventions where the aim is to avoid, or minimise, formal processing by the criminal or youth justice system. Several studies have suggested that diverting young people away from the criminal justice system can be effective in reducing reoffending; however, the evidence is mixed. There is considerable variation in the design, aims, content and delivery of youth justice diversion programmes, and the nature of comparison groups drawn upon in evaluations, which may limit the overall conclusions that can be drawn about such schemes.

Findings from the Edinburgh Study of Youth Transitions, which is a longitudinal study of young people who have offended, has produced results which are helpful to understand why diversion schemes are worth considering for some young people. Findings showed that, after controlling for other factors, young people who become known to the criminal justice system and social services tend to be slower to desist from crime than those who are similarly involved in criminal behaviour and do not become known to these services. This may possibly be explained by a 'labelling effect' where those known to the police and social services may be subject to more surveillance, which could in turn reinforce criminal identities and pathways.

In addition, an international meta-analysis⁷⁸ examined the effect of any formal criminal justice sanction in comparison to diversions that avoided the youth justice system. The authors concluded that '*juvenile system processing appears to not have a crime control effect, and across all measures appears to increase delinquency*' (p6). The negative impact of formal system processing was greater in those studies that compared results to a diversion programme rather than comparing system processing to release without additional support.

⁷⁷ See for example, Goffman, 1963. Study included for context.

⁷⁶ McAra & McVie, 2007. Study included for context.

Petrosino et al., 2010 (meta-analysis) Studies included in the meta-analysis compared traditional system processing (any condition involving official processing) to alternative conditions where young people had not been officially adjudicated e.g. release, counsel and release, diversion, or diversion with services. It should be noted that three quarters of the studies included were from between 1973 and 1990. Also, their consideration of diversion was heavily influenced by a particularly rigorous and well implemented set of diversion schemes (not restricted to first time offenders) in the USA.

Further meta-analyses have, however, produced conflicting results regarding diversionary practices. Some differences may be explained by variations in definitions of diversion and methodology. Schwalbe et al., $(2012)^{79}$ found that, overall, the effects of diversion programmes on reoffending were not significant. However, this review highlighted the wide variation in programme design, and quality of monitoring and implementation, leading to a wide range of effects on reoffending. Further sub-analyses, by diversion programme type, indicated that family and restorative justice interventions were associated with reductions in reoffending.

In contrast, an international meta-analysis by Wilson and Hoge (2012) found that diversion of young people, either via cautioning or warning and release (and, therefore, no further intervention), or intervention programmes, produced greater reductions in reoffending than traditional processing e.g. probation. Analysis also showed an interaction between the type of diversionary program and the risk level of the young person: diversion via caution or warning and release was more effective for low risk young people than diversion via an intervention programme. Diversion via intervention programme was more effective in medium or high risk young people than those considered low risk (in accordance with RNR principles; see section 2.2).

In an international systematic review of pre-sentencing interventions, ⁸¹ there was good evidence for personal skills training plus reparation to reduce the risk of re-offending in first time or non serious offenders, when compared against a diversion intervention comprising warning and monitoring. ⁸² However, analysis from a diversionary scheme in Australia demonstrated that young people who were diverted from a youth court (via police cautioning) had better reoffending outcomes than those who were not diverted, regardless of whether it was their first, second or third contact with the justice system. ⁸³

Schwalbe et al., 2012 (meta-analysis) International studies included compared at least one active treatment condition against a minimal intervention or standard justice processing condition. Included 28 studies covering the following programme types: case management, individual treatment, family treatment, youth court, and restorative justice. Participants were referred to diversion by law enforcement or the juvenile justice system prior to adjudication. The interventions was not restricted to first time offenders.
 Wilson & Hoge, 2012 (meta-analysis). Diversion was defined broadly as any program that avoided official

Wilson & Hoge, 2012 (meta-analysis). Diversion was defined broadly as any program that avoided official processing prior to a charge, full prosecution after charge, or a traditional sentence (e.g. imprisonment) after conviction. The intervention was not restricted to first time offenders.

Defined here as interventions conducted after a young offender has been found guilty but before they formally enter into the criminal justice system.

Newman et al., 2012 (systematic review).

Little, 2014 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 3).

In England and Wales, the Youth Justice Liaison and Diversion scheme was introduced in 2009 with the aim of diverting offenders with mental health and communication or learning difficulties from the youth justice system to appropriate services. ⁸⁴ The scheme was piloted in six areas and an evaluation indicated that those in the scheme were slower to reoffend and had significant reductions in reported depression and self-harm compared to a matched comparison group. However, overall rates of reoffending were similar between the intervention and comparison sites. ⁸⁵

4.2 Court setting

This section considers findings when the court process itself constitutes an intervention different from a standard court hearing. Two specialist courts that have been developed in the USA are youth drug courts and teen courts.

Drug courts vary in nature but, in general, require the young person to comply with a programme and supervision, with judges being closely involved throughout sentence disposal to ensure that meaningful, specialised and multifaceted interventions are allocated. Specific components of the drug court model include random drug testing, incentives, rewards, and sanctions. There is strong evidence for drug courts, based on meta-analysis of USA studies, showing that crime outcomes can be reduced and a positive net return on investment can be delivered.⁸⁶

Table 4.1 summarises the cost estimates in relation to Drug Courts. They are based on international impact evidence and the Dartington Social Research Unit has recalculated the USA costs using information from the UK.⁸⁷ Taken together, they suggest that drug courts can yield a net benefit of £11,294 and a low risk of loss to the investor (5%).⁸⁸

⁻

^{&#}x27;Triage' schemes were also introduced in 2009 in England and Wales with the aim of diverting young people who had a non-serious first offence or reoffence, away from formal sanctions (used where the young person has admitted to the offence). Limited evaluation design means that it has not been possible to establish impact however e.g. Institute for Criminal Policy Research (ICPR), 2012 (MSMS, 2; EPPI, 3). Included for context.

Haines et al., 2012 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3); Haines et al., 2014 (technically out of scope as beyond timeframe of review, but included as important update to the 2012 evaluation).

See for example, Aos & Drake, 2013 (meta-analysis); Aos et al., 2006 (meta-analysis).

The Social Research Unit, 2012; 2013 cost-benefit analysis is based on the economic model developed by the Washington State Institute for Public Policy (WSIPP) in the USA.

⁸⁸ See Glossary (Appendix A) 'Cost-benefit analysis and estimate' section for an explanation of the terms included in the table.

Table 4.1 Benefit-cost estimates (UK): Drug Courts

Intervention	Cost	Total benefits	Benefits	Benefit -	Rate of return	Risk of
Intervention	Cost	rotal benefits	minus costs	cost ratio	on investment	loss
Drug Courts	£2,471	£13,765	£11,294	£5.57	42%	5%

Teen Courts also vary in detail but are generally where young people staff the court, with one adult employee or volunteer performing an inquisitorial role. Again, international metaanalysis⁸⁹ has demonstrated that, on average, these types of courts can reduce crime rates.

Girls' and young women's courts have also been implemented across several American States. However, the only evaluation that met the criteria of this review was that of the Honolulu Girls' Court. 90 The Honolulu Girls' Court is a gender-specific, problem solving court for girls who offend as well as those engaging in risky behaviours. The court runs every five weeks in all female sessions; social work and probation staff work with court staff to determine appropriate services and support. 91 Evaluation findings were mixed and, given the small sample size, 92 should be treated with caution.

There were no significant differences between those attending the Girls' Court and a comparison group in the number of offences committed in the follow up period (between one and four and a half years). However, participants had fewer admissions and days spent in a youth correctional facility compared to the comparison group. There was, however, more use of a detention home 93 for Girls' Court participants perhaps due to additional supervision and contact with court staff as a consequence of the intervention.

4.3 Sentencing

Studies were found that explored the effects of different criminal justice sentence disposals on young people's reoffending rates. However, most studies did not consider how young people are managed during the sentences and, therefore, caution needs to be applied when considering some findings. Overall, UK and international studies present promising evidence that community sentences can offer similar or better outcomes when compared with custodial sentences in terms of reoffending, and may do so more cost-effectively.

Davidson et al., 2011 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3). The Honolulu Girls' Court has its own website with several links and additional resources http://www.girlscourt.org/resources.html.

See for example, Aos et al., 2006 (meta-analysis).

Hearings are held in 'open session' i.e. the girls and young women hear one another's stories and potentially learn from one another. Parents are also mandated to be in the court and to attend subsequent sessions of a parenting group, and their daughters attend regular group sessions.

Approximately 50 who had gone through the court, and 50 matched controls.

A form of secure accommodation for at risk young people.

A study by the Ministry of Justice ⁹⁴ assessed the relative effectiveness of a range of youth justice sentences by constructing matched offender groups to compare proven re-offending rates. Indicative findings showed that young people who received a lower level community sentence had a statistically significant lower re-offending rate when compared with those sentenced to a higher level community disposal. Those receiving a custodial sentence of six months or shorter had a slightly higher re-offending rate than those receiving a high level community sentence. Furthermore, there was no overall significant difference in reoffending rates for young offenders given a custodial sentence of six to 12 months and those given shorter custodial sentences. Evidence from a longitudinal study of young offenders in the USA also indicates that longer periods of detention are not likely to increase rates of desistance. ⁹⁵

In the USA, a randomised controlled trial was conducted comparing intensive community based supervision to custody. Although recidivism appeared unaffected, the intensive community surveillance was more cost effective. ⁹⁶ In a separate analysis, Wiebush (1993) estimated a saving of \$4670 per youthful felony offender diverted from institutional settings to the community. ⁹⁷ Similarly, Fass and Pi considered the costs and benefits of applying disposals of one level of increased severity to offenders in Dallas, Texas. They calculated unit values for the justice system, monetised actual and social costs and benefits to victims and others, and concluded that 'harsher sanctions do not produce positive net benefits for the justice system' (p.383). ⁹⁸

An evaluation assessed the impact of the Intensive Supervision and Surveillance Programme (ISSP), ⁹⁹ an enhanced form of community based supervision in England and Wales. ISSP (later known as Intensive Supervision and Surveillance (ISS)) was originally targeted at persistent and, (from 2002) serious offenders who were at risk of being sentenced to custody. The evaluation assessed a 10 year follow up period for young people sentenced to the ISSP order and a matched comparison group who had received a range of other disposals. Despite a steep downward trend in the frequency and seriousness of offending for the ISSP group, very similar patterns were identified in the comparison sample, and there

-

Ministry of Justice, 2012 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 3). This study was based on administrative data from the Police National Computer (PNC) for all young people aged 10 to 17 sentenced to a youth justice disposal between 2005 to 2009. A statistical technique called Propensity Score Matching (PSM) was used to compare different youth justice sentences and their relative impact of proven reoffending.

⁹⁵ Mulvey, 2011 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 2).

⁹⁶ Barton & Butts, 1990 (MSMS design 5, EPPI overall 2; a large scale, RCT).

⁹⁷ Wiebush, 1993 (MSMS design 4, EPPI overall 3).

⁹⁸ Fass & Pi, 2002 (fiscal review paper).

⁹⁹ Gray, 2013 (MSMS design 3, EPPI overall 3).

were no long term differences between the groups after the programme ended. However, the results showed there were some differences in the intervention and comparison groups that may have affected the results. The authors concluded that 'ISSP appeared to have provided cost-effective and robust provision for young offenders, where custody might otherwise have been considered the most appropriate criminal justice response' (p.9).

4.4 Community sentencing requirements

Beyond 'traditional' community supervision, studies have looked at other approaches including nature or wilderness based programmes and interventions encouraging creativity, through music or drama. The evidence on the effectiveness of these interventions is limited and mixed. The most promising evidence on effectiveness focuses on wilderness based programmes and suggests that they can offer similar long term outcomes to traditional community based programmes.

A very small scale randomized controlled trial of 'Project Explore' ¹⁰¹ in the USA looked at status and criminal offences over a two year follow up period. ¹⁰² They found no significant difference between the programme and standard probation services, and concluded that the programme was no more effective than probation services that 'allow caseworkers regular and meaningful contacts with clients' (p. 258).

A quasi-experimental evaluation of an Outward Bound programme was conducted in Illinois, USA. ¹⁰³ A reduction in one year recidivism was found for those who completed the programme, but this effect had dissipated after two years. Similarly, a quasi-experimental evaluation which compared the outcomes for young people placed on the Michigan Nokomis Challenge Programme ¹⁰⁴ to a matched group sentenced to traditional residential placements (e.g. training schools or private residential programmes) found that, over a 24 month period, the programme showed significant cost savings. There were, however, few differences in social adjustment, substance abuse or recidivism outcomes between the two groups. ¹⁰⁵

¹⁰³ Castellano & Soderstrom, 1992 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 3).

¹⁰⁰ These are conceptualised in the literature as being diversions away from custody although as they are post court, they are considered here.

¹⁰¹ Consisting of outdoor adventure, social skills training, and parent skills training.

Elrod & Minor, 1992 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3).

Provides three months of residential outdoor challenges and nine months of intensive community based aftercare.

Deschenes & Greenwood, 1998 (MSMS design 3: EPPI overall 3).

Looking beyond wilderness programmes, qualitative studies have indicated that young people and staff involved in music and drama programmes have reported positive findings in terms of resilience and peer interactions. However, due to the design or quality of the studies, limited conclusions regarding the efficacy of such programmes can be drawn. Short term improvements on cognitive functioning and recidivism have been suggested by previous studies; however, findings were again not robust.

4.5 Family and community interventions

There is evidence that poor parenting skills can be associated with an increased risk of antisocial behaviour and the onset of offending among young people. ¹⁰⁹ Various types of family based interventions aim to strengthen the role of the family and wider community in the provision of support to young people who offend. Several international reviews and meta-analyses conclude that family based interventions can bring about successful outcomes relating to the onset and continuation of criminal behaviour. Outcomes can include less time incarcerated and lower recidivism, as well as offering cost benefits. ¹¹⁰

Furthermore, family based licenced programmes have also demonstrated that they can, based on a number of international meta-analyses, reduce reoffending among young people and can also offer a positive net return on investment. Programme fidelity (implementation) is important if benefits from these programmes are to be realised. Also, most of the evaluations for these interventions are international, with the majority originating from the USA, and, therefore, more research needs to be undertaken in England and Wales to test whether similar results can be achieved. Finally, it must be kept in mind that family based programmes may be neither appropriate, nor sufficient for all young people; for example, some young people will not be in contact (for whatever reason) with their parents and families.

Barrett & Baker, 2012 (qualitative; EPPI overall 2); Norton & Holguin, 2011 (qualitative; EPPI overall 2, a small scale, qualitative study).

Barrett & Baker, 2012 (qualitative; EPPI overall 2); Castellano & Soderstrom, 1992 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 3); Deschenes & Greenwood, 1998 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3); Norton & Holguin, 2011 (EPPI overall 2; a small scale (n=4) qualitative study); Hughes, 2003 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 3). Indicative findings based on a very small scale reconviction study.

Elrod & Minor 1992 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3).

See for example, Farrington & Welsh, 2007 (meta-analyses); Andrews & Bonta, 2010 (systematic reviews and meta-analyses); Petrosino et al., (2010) (meta-analysis). Reviews included for context.

For example, see: Aos et al., 2006 (meta-analysis); Aos & Drake, 2013 (meta-analysis); Henggeler & Sheidow, 2012 (systematic review); Social Research Unit, 2012; 2013 (systematic review) and Woolfenden et al., 2002 (meta-analysis); Petrosino et al., (2010) (meta-analysis).

A number of these licensed family based programmes are set out below.

4.5.1 Multisystemic Therapy

Multisystemic Therapy (MST) is an intensive home based and family driven intervention for young people aged 12 to 18 years. It is designed to address complex psychosocial problems and provide alternatives to out of home placements for young people. Specially trained therapists work with young people and their families to address the known causes of delinquency on an individualised, yet comprehensive basis. MST draws upon the issues and strengths in each 'system' (e.g. family, peers, school, and neighbourhood) to facilitate change. Therapists generally spend more time with families in the initial weeks (daily if needed) and gradually reduce their time over the three to five month course of support.

There is strong international evidence, based on several reviews and meta-analyses from a number of countries, which shows that MST can reduce youth reoffending and can deliver positive net returns on investment (see Table 4.2). 111 Evaluations have demonstrated positive impacts on reoffending when MST is utilised with specific groups of young offenders, including 'serious and violent' offenders, 112 young people convicted of sexual offences, 113 and young offenders with substance misuse problems. 114 This includes one study of serious and violent young offenders 115 where, at almost 22 years post intervention, reoffending rates by MST participants were significantly lower than those of comparators receiving 'individual therapy'. 116

Whilst meta-analyses show MST can reduce reoffending, results from some early international single studies¹¹⁷ and meta-analysis¹¹⁸ have led to discussion on the way MST programmes are implemented and the importance of programme fidelity if benefits are to be realised. Of relevance here is that a significant proportion of the evidence on MST interventions has been published by the programme originators, which may possibly have

¹¹¹ For example, Aos et al., 2006 (meta-analysis); Aos & Drake, 2013 (meta-analysis); Henggeler & Sheidow, 2012 (systematic review); SRU, 2012 (meta-analyses).

Borduin et al., 1995 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3); with follow up studies: Schaeffer & Borduin, 2005 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 3); Sawyer & Borduin 2011 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3).

Borduin et al., 2009 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3). Henggeler et al., 1999 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 2), followed up in Henggeler et al., 2002 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3).

Henggeler et al., 2002 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3); Borduin et al., 1995 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3).

Sawyer & Borduin, 2011 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3).

Leschied & Cunningham, 2002 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3) (Study of MST delivery in Canada. Also cited in Farrington & Welsh, 2005 (meta-analysis)).

See Littell et al., 2005 (meta-analysis of international studies); Hengeller et al., 2006 (response to Littell et al., meta-analysis. Included for context).

resulted in larger effect sizes, due potentially to high levels of programme fidelity. ¹¹⁹ MST results can also vary depending on the legal, sentencing and social welfare frameworks adopted in the countries in which it is implemented. ¹²⁰

One relatively small scale implementation of MST in the UK observed lower rates of non-violent offending behaviour among MST participants at 18 months post intervention compared to young people who received fairly intensive YOT interventions. ¹²¹

4.5.2 Functional Family Therapy

Functional Family Therapy (FFT) is a family based therapy intervention and youth diversion programme helping young people, aged 11 to 18 years, who have conduct disorder, substance abuse and delinquency issues. Trained therapists work with families to assess family behaviours, modify dysfunctional family communication, train family members to negotiate effectively, set clear rules about privileges and responsibilities, and generalise changes to community contexts and relationships. FFT may be coupled with other services such as remedial education, job training and placement and school placement.

A number of international reviews and meta-analyses provide strong evidence that FFT can deliver reductions in youth reoffending and offers a positive net return on investment (see Table 3.4). Studies have been conducted in a number of states across the USA. FFT has been applied successfully with a wide range of population demographics and in a number of contexts (e.g. in state institutions and with young offenders in the community under supervision). ¹²³

4.5.3 Treatment Foster Care Oregon

Treatment Foster Care Oregon (TFCO) (formerly known as Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care), is an alternative to residential placement (including custody) for chronic young delinquents who have a long history with the youth court system. It requires that only one young person be placed with a foster family at a time, with specialised training of foster parents and close supervision and support. Placement in foster parent homes typically last

¹¹⁹ MST originators Charles Borduin and Scott Henggeler, from the USA.

See Olsson, 2010 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3) Study of MST delivery in Sweden. The legal and welfare framework (and how they respond to young people who display delinquent and some offending behaviour) in Sweden is different to most states in the USA.

Butler et al., 2011 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3).

Aos et al., 2006 (meta-analysis); Aos & Drake, 2013 (meta-analysis).

For example, Gordon et al, 1995 (MSMS design 3; EPPI 2).

for about six months. Aftercare services remain in place for as long as the parents want, but typically last about one year.

There is strong international evidence, based on a number of reviews and meta-analyses, which demonstrate that TFCO can reduce youth offending outcomes and deliver a positive net return on investment (see Table 4.2). 124 A number of the randomised controlled trials conducted in Oregon (in the USA) identified improved outcomes relating to criminal behaviour (typically rates of arrest and number of days in detention) over one or two years for individuals who participated in TFCO rather than Group Care placements. TFCO has been found to be effective for boys 125 and for girls, 126 although one early study noted less pronounced success with younger girls. 127 The TFCO approach was subsequently further adapted to address trauma and offending simultaneously among young female offenders, and one study then found improved outcomes in both domains. 128,129

Table 4.2 summarises the cost estimates in relation to MST, TFCO, and FFT. They are based on international impact evidence and the Dartington Social Research Unit has recalculated the USA costs using information from the UK. ¹³⁰ Taken together they suggest that MST, TFCO, and FFT can yield net benefits of £10,161, £12,792 and £20,017 respectively. The corresponding risk of loss to the investor was 13 per cent, 22 per cent and one per cent respectively. ¹³¹

Table 4.2 Benefit-cost analysis estimates (UK): Family and community programmes

Intervention	Cost	Total benefits	Benefits minus costs	Benefit - cost ratio	Rate of return on investment	Risk of loss
MST	£9,732	£19,893	£10,161	£2.04	16%	13%
TFCO	£7,821	£20,613	£12,792	£2.64	24%	22%
FFT	£3,465	£31,482	£20,017	£9.09	85%	1%

¹²⁴ See for example, Aos et al., 2006 (meta-analysis); Henggeler & Sheidow, 2012 (systematic review); Allen, G. (systematic review)

⁽systematic review).

125 Chamberlain & Moore 1998 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 2); Chamberlain & Reid 1998 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 2).

Leve et al., 2012 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3).

¹²⁷ Chamberlain et al., 2007 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3).

Smith et al., 2012 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 2).

A less robust study explored the use of TFCO (then known as MTFC) for girls in England and Wales. It suggested that offending behaviour had reduced post placement. However, not all participants had a history of offending, many were still under parental supervision and outcome measures were either reported by caregivers or taken from case files. See Rhoades et al., 2013 (MSMS design 2; EPPI overall 2).

The Social Research Unit, 2012; 2013 cost-benefit analysis is based on the economic model developed by the Washington State Institute for Public Policy (WSIPP) in the USA.

See Glossary (Appendix A) 'Cost-benefit analysis and estimate' section for an explanation of the terms included in the table.

4.5.4 Parent training programmes

Parent training programmes are usually narrower in scope and more time limited than the family based interventions set out above. Whilst there is good evidence that this approach can produce improved behavioural outcomes for parents with pre-school children, ¹³² the interventions reviewed in this section assess whether these positive changes can be reproduced for adolescents.

Overall, there is promising evidence regarding the efficacy of parenting programmes. There was, however, some variation in the nature of the programme and the type of offender targeted and, therefore, a degree of caution needs to be applied when interpreting findings.

One early American evaluation found that while there were few differences in recidivism outcomes at one and two year follow ups, parenting training delivered faster reductions in offending behaviour over the same time span, with fewer days of incarceration compared to the control group. The staff, however, found the intervention emotionally challenging to deliver. Also, an evaluation of the Family Empowerment Intervention (FEI) in the USA, concluded that young people completing the time limited programme had significantly lower total charges and arrest rates at 12 months post intervention; however, at 24 months the findings were not significant.

Another American approach, 'WayOUT' or Coordination of Services (CoS) provides an educational programme to low risk youth offenders and their parents. Families may self refer or be mandated to attend by a court. It runs over two consecutive weekends and provides education and skills in areas including parenting, communication, building strengths and conflict resolution. A meta-analysis (based on two studies from the USA) has demonstrated its effectiveness in reducing reoffending ¹³⁵ and the programme has generated a high positive net return on investment. ¹³⁶

See for example, Allen, 2011. International systematic review, included here for context. This and other reviews have found strong international evidence for early years parenting interventions such as Triple P, which is a multi-level parenting programme designed to prevent the development of serious behavioural and emotional problems in children.

¹³³ Bank et al., 1991, p15 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 2).

Dembo et al., 2000 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3) and 2001 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3).

¹³⁵ Barnoski & Aos, 2004 (meta-analysis).

Washington State Institute for Public Policy (July 2015) Benefit-costs for juvenile justice. A benefit-cost estimate analysis reported benefits minus costs of \$9,202, a benefit-cost ratio of \$23.34 with a 96 per cent chance that the benefits of the intervention will outweigh the costs of implementation

Furthermore, recent evidence 137 reminds us that consideration should also be given to the wider offending related context and community environments that can influence parenting efficacy.

4.6 **Secure settings**

In the reviewed literature, the nature and context of secure settings varied and it was often challenging to make direct comparisons to the youth secure estate in England and Wales. 138 Therefore, a degree of caution should be applied when interpreting findings and applying them to an English and Welsh context.

Meta-analyses by Lipsey suggested that for young people serving custodial sentences, the characteristics of programmes, such as the type, length and intensity (dosage) can play a greater role in influencing the outcome of the intervention than the characteristics of the offender. Of particular note was the longevity of the programme and by whom it was administered, irrespective of the individual characteristics of the young people. Interpersonal skills programmes (i.e. training in social skills, CBT, aggression replacement and anger control and cognitive restructuring) provided very promising outcomes in institutional and residential settings. 139,140

An evaluation from North America compared reoffending following random assignment of young people to different forms of secure accommodation (a traditional training school versus a residential programme, the Paint Creek Youth Centre). 141 Although findings appeared favourable towards the residential programme, there were no significant differences in reoffending between the groups. 142 When secure, restrictive custodial settings were compared to alternative sanctions delivered within the community, without a detention requirement (e.g. foster homes, group homes); findings have also been somewhat equivocal. Those in alternative programme placements were found to have a significantly longer time

¹³⁷ Diamond et al., 2011. (MSMS design 1; EPPI overall 2).

The sectors of the youth secure estate in England and Wales are: Under 18 Young Offender Institutions (Under 18 YOIs) for 15 to 17 year old males; Secure Training Centres (STCs) for 12 to 17 year olds; and Secure Children's Homes (SCHs) for 10 to 17 year olds. See Ministry of Justice 2013 for an overview.

Lipsey et al., 2000; 2009 (meta-analysis). Access to CBT related programmes varied across the English and Welsh youth secure estate. Provision was. on the whole, more likely in Secure Training Centres (STCs) and least likely in under 18 Young Offender Institutions (YOIs). All secure settings reported that it can be difficult to provide interventions when young

people are sentenced to fewer than six months. See Gyateng et al., 2013 (MSMS design 1; EPPI overall 2).

Training schools are secure, restrictive custody programmes in an institutional setting. The Paint Creek Youth Centre was of small size (30-35 young people) with no locked doors/fences. It was developed: "to provide a comprehensive array of high-quality programming tailored to the individual requirements of youths".

Greenwood & Turner, 1993 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3).

until re-offence compared to young people in secure settings; however, there was no impact on the overall rate of reoffending. 143

There is some limited evidence from an evaluation of an American small scale residential rehabilitation unit 144 that when offender needs are properly acknowledged and addressed and when families are well integrated, positive outcomes seem to be demonstrated. The evaluation demonstrated that length of stay was associated with a lower risk of reoffending, although a lack of comparison group means that findings must be interpreted with caution. 145

Qualitative research has shown that well qualified staff were perceived as necessary but not sufficient to engender a positive culture within a residential setting. When staff groups are cohesive and understanding of how their different styles of interacting can influence the young people in their care, residential cultures can be improved. 146

4.7 Prison visits to deter young people from offending

Interventions involving visits by young people at risk of offending or who were already committing crime to see the reality of prison life and lifestyle criminality in programmes such as Scared Straight have been shown not to work. A number of meta-analyses based on studies from the USA have demonstrated that the intervention can result in an increased likelihood of offending among young people. 147 It has been suggested by academics that the confrontational style of these programmes may contribute to negative effects. 148

Table 4.3 summarises the cost estimates in relation to Scared Straight. They are based on international impact evidence and the Dartington Social Research Unit has recalculated the USA costs using information from the UK. 149 Taken together, they suggest that Scared Straight interventions can yield a net negative loss of £14,268 and a very high risk of loss to the investor (99%). 150

¹⁴³ Fendrich & Archer, 1998 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 3).

¹⁴⁴ Pilgrim Center, 24 bed unit.

McMackin et al., 2004 (MSMS design 2; EPPI overall 2).

Ahonen & Degner, 2013 (qualitative; MSMS design 1; ÉPPI overall 2), Ahonen & Degner, 2012 (qualitative; EPPI overall 3) (both papers are process focussed, rather than outcome based and quantitative information is

drawn from survey findings).

Petrosino et al., 2013 (meta-analysis); Aos et al., 2006 (meta-analysis); Social Research Unit, 2012; 2013; WSIPP 2015a; WSIPP 2015b (meta-analyses).

Klenowski et al., 2010 (systematic review).

The Social Research Unit, 2012; 2013 cost-benefit analysis is based on the economic model developed by the Washington State Institute for Public Policy (WSIPP) in the USA.

See Glossary (Appendix A) 'Cost-benefit analysis and estimate' section for an explanation of the terms included in the table.

Table 4.3 Benefit-cost estimates (UK): Scared Straight

			Benefits	Benefit -	Rate of return	Risk of
Intervention	Cost	Total benefits	minus costs	cost ratio	on investment	loss
Scared Straight	£55	-£14,213	-£14,268	-258.42	119%	99%

4.8 Boot camps

Alternative models of custody include 'boot camps' that are typically characterised by a militaristic approach, where participants are required to follow a rigorous daily schedule of activities including drill, physical exercise in squads and strict discipline. A number of international systematic reviews¹⁵¹ concluded that, overall, 'boot camps' did not have an impact on reoffending levels, even if the boot camps included a rehabilitative training element. While the available evidence indicates that boot camps have had little, if any, effect on reoffending, they are typically cheaper to implement than custody.¹⁵²

4.9 Transitions and resettlement

Young people in custody can have complex, multi-faceted needs.¹⁵³ During resettlement back into the community, ¹⁵⁴ young people often face the same issues and challenges they experienced prior to incarceration which may be further exacerbated by the transition process itself.¹⁵⁵ The current international evidence base on transitions and resettlement is limited and mixed, and there is much variation in the design and delivery of programmes which may have affected evaluation results. However, given the issues faced by many young people leaving custody, interventions to support young people post release should be considered as part of rehabilitation planning.

A recent meta-analysis ¹⁵⁶ of 30 post custody aftercare studies from the USA indicated that the overall effect was very modest and statistically nonsignificant. That said, sub group analysis showed that well implemented aftercare programmes reduced the risk of reoffending among older young people with violent criminal histories. Significant reductions in further offending were shown for those who were over an average (mean) age of 16.5 years. ¹⁵⁷ The

For example, see Wilson et al., 2005 (systematic review). Results are provided for both adult and young offenders and show that overall the likelihood of boot camp participants reoffending was equal to that of the comparison group. This result held for both adults and young people.

¹⁵² Meade & Steiner, 2010 (systematic review).

See for example, Gyateng et al., 2013 (MSMS design 1; EPPI overall 2).

Resettlement is typically defined as the effective reintegration of imprisoned offenders back into the community.

Wright et al., 2013 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 2).

Weaver & Campbell (2015). Meta-analysis which although strictly out of scope (due to the publication date) for this REA has been included as highly relevant.

From an England and Wales context, this finding may be important given the rising age profile of children in the secure estate. See for example, Youth Justice Board / Ministry of Justice (2015).

authors speculate that this may be because older adolescents might have greater intellectual capacity to participate in activities and thereby reap the benefits.

The same meta-analysis also found that indicators of effective aftercare programmes included the presence of a professional who demonstrated commitment to the wellbeing of the young people in their care. Conversely, weak implementation was associated with high staff turnover, lower levels of contact between staff and young people than originally anticipated and young people feeling that there was insufficient contact with staff. In interpreting this latter finding, analysis suggested that variations in the frequency of contact had little impact on reoffending; problems appeared to arise where levels of contact were lower than young people had been given to expect.

Consistent with findings reported above, a large scale longitudinal study of young offenders in the USA found that most of the young people in the study stopped offending eventually, irrespective of any intervention. ¹⁵⁸ However, they also found that community supervision following custody could effectively reduce reoffending for this group.

Engaging the family can also be an important part of the resettlement process for some young people, as removing young people from their communities can lead to conflict and breakdown in family relationships. Family focused resettlement services can help to re-engage the family and there is evidence that they can successfully reduce reoffending. The Parenting with Love and Limits programme was piloted in the USA, involving family therapy and parenting work with a consistent therapist within custody through to the community. The evaluation found this programme reduced reoffending in comparison to a matched control group. ¹⁶⁰

Qualitative research shows that even if young people intend to desist from crime¹⁶¹ and have built up good rapport with youth justice staff,¹⁶² they may be particularly vulnerable when returned to their former communities. This may be especially problematic when they have no support network beyond their former friends.¹⁶³ Specialist caseworkers or transition brokers can improve outcomes through maintaining and sustaining engagement with young people

38

Mulvey, 2011 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 2; based on over 1,300 young people who had committed serious offences).

¹⁵⁹ Moore et al., 2013 (qualitative; EPPI overall 2).

¹⁶⁰ Winokur et al., 2013 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 2)

¹⁶¹ Moore et al., 2013 (qualitative, EPPI overall 2).

Wingrove, 2012 (qualitative, EPPI overall 2, this is a small scale study).

Abrams, 2007 (qualitative, EPPI overall 3).

and relevant services or agencies. In an international randomised evaluation of an intervention to support young people with learning and emotional and behavioural difficulties, those who completed the intervention were found to have a 64 per cent lower chance of offending than the control group at 30 days post release, although effects did not persist after this time period.¹⁶⁴

A review of interventions by the Project Oracle evidence hub (which focuses on London) identified four areas as crucial in engaging young people: *'Referral'*, *'Hooking'*, *'Influencing'* and *'Facilitation*. ¹⁶⁵ Offering incentives to young people 'hooks' them in, then engagement needs to be sustained within a supportive, encouraging context that will facilitate exit through transition into appropriate employment, training or education. ¹⁶⁶ Transition brokers with an enhanced mentoring role have also been shown to have a positive effect on substance misuse and on time taken to reoffend. ¹⁶⁷ There is some additional qualitative evidence from the Resettlement Support Panel initiative in Wales that resettlement brokers are able to support young people more effectively if they are seen as distinct to those providing supervision as part of a sentence. ¹⁶⁸ Qualitative research indicates that young people value a supportive and consistent relationship during the resettlement process. ^{169,170}

Educational attainment and school engagement can also be particularly relevant to resettlement success. ¹⁷¹ International research has shown that if young people return to school after a sentence and remain in school, they are less likely to re-offend. ¹⁷² For example, research from Florida compared outcomes for over 700 young people and showed that properly funded, intensive resettlement support focused on specialised, remedial education and intensive vocational training was associated with reduced substance use, engagement with education or employment and having suitable housing. ¹⁷³ The California

¹⁶⁴ Clark et al., 2011 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3). Small sample of participants (less than 80).

Belur, 2013 (systematic review) (This study focused on interventions with young people not in education, employment or training)

There have also been indicative outcomes for the London programme, 'Daedalus', which involved the referral of young people to the Heron Unit at under 18 YOI at Feltham followed by intensive resettlement planning, cognitive behavioural intervention, life skills training and supportive resettlement brokers. The evaluation outcomes should be read with some caution as they are based on a small number of young people who volunteered to be on the programme (and therefore possibly may be motivated to change their offending behaviour) and it was not possible to match the intervention sample fully with similar comparators. See Powell et al. (2012)

Bouffard et al., 2008 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3).

Phillips et al., 2012 (EPPI overall 2) (Data were not available for most of the recidivism analyses so this is essentially a qualitative study).

¹⁶⁹ Moore et al., 2013 (EPPI overall 2).

Abrams, 2006 (EPPI overall 2).

Hazel et al., 2012 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 2) Wright et al 2013 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 2) Fagan, 1990 (MSMS design 5, EPPI overall 3). International evidence.

Blomberg et al., 2011 (MSMS design 2; EPPI overall 2). Study from USA.

National Council on Crime and Delinquency, 2009 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3).

Life skills programme, in the USA, is another transitions programme focussing on training. An evaluation demonstrated reduced reoffending rates and better resilience to crime promoting influences such as substance misuse or criminal peer groups. 174

 $^{^{\}rm 174}$ Josi & Sechrest, 1999 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 3).

5. Serious and sexual offending

Summary of findings

Based on international evidence, a number of interventions and approaches were highlighted that can help reduce serious or sexual offending among young people.

- Three types of intervention may be more effective with serious offenders: interpersonal skills training, individual counselling and behavioural programmes (including, but not limited to CBT).
- There is international evidence that interventions such as Multisystematic therapy (MST) with young people who have offended sexually can reduce both subsequent sexual and non-sexual reoffending.

Serious offending and sexual offending were not always defined in the studies reviewed and when they were, definitions varied between studies. Mindful of this, a degree of caution needs to be applied when considering findings.

5.1 Serious offences¹⁷⁵

Meta-analysis, based on international studies, has identified three types of intervention that may be more effective with serious offenders: interpersonal skills training, individual counselling and behavioural programs (including, but not limited to CBT). However, the extent of improvement in recidivism rates varied and, in common with other types of offending, neither purely punitive nor purely vocational interventions seem effective, even when implemented for longer or with more intensity.¹⁷⁶

Similarly, a more recent meta-analysis based on international studies considering programmes delivered to young serious offenders in institutional environments concluded that the interventions were effective in reducing both general and serious reoffending (the latter to a greater degree). However, due to a limited number of studies included in this analysis, it was not possible to discern the specific characteristics associated with effective interventions.

-

No evaluations reviewed for this study were found that considered the management of serious group or street gang involved young people. The Home Office commissioned the Early Intervention Foundation to review the international evidence on the risk factors associated with young people's involvement in gangs and also what works to prevent gang involvement, youth violence and crime. See Cordis Bright Consulting (2015) and O'Connor & Waddell, 2015 respectively. Included for context.

Lipsey et al., 2000 (meta-analysis).

Garrido & Morales, 2007 (meta-analysis). Strictly out of scope as age range included 12–21 year olds, but included due to relevance.

In cases of severe personality disorder, outcomes can also be improved using 'decompression treatment', which is designed to remove antagonistic social bonds. It can be used in combination with CBT and the approach varies depending on the level of aggressiveness and other individual characteristics of the young person. Decompression treatment can lead to reductions in institutional violence and also reoffending over a two year follow up period. ¹⁷⁸ Use of this model has shown that the benefit to cost ratio may be as high as seven to one when compared with treatment as usual. ¹⁷⁹

5.2 Sexual offending

Meta-analyses¹⁸⁰ have demonstrated that intervention programmes can be effective in reducing further sexual and non-sexual offending amongst young people. However, either the quality or the number of the individual studies included in the analysis mean that conclusions must be treated with a degree of caution.

Several randomised controlled trials, by the developers of multisystemic therapy (MST), have demonstrated that MST for young sexual offenders' results in lower reoffending rates (both sexual and non-sexual) compared to treatment as usual. ¹⁸¹ In one study which assessed the effectiveness of a specialist, community based intervention (focused on individual needs, social and family factors), findings showed that young people who received the intervention were significantly less likely to be charged for any criminal offence (including sexual and nonsexual violent offences) over a 20 year follow up period than a comparison group. ¹⁸² Another study assessed the effect of RJ conferencing and a specialist youth sexual abuse prevention programme on reoffending. However, it was difficult to disentangle the impact of intervention, court disposals and prior criminal history. ¹⁸³ Nonetheless, the researchers concluded that for those young people with no prior offending, RJ and the specialist programme slowed the rate of reoffending and reduced reoffending respectively.

Qualitative research focusing on the perceptions of young people who have participated in interventions for sexual offending has suggested that, in cases of intra-familial sexual

-

¹⁷⁸ Caldwell, Skeem et al., 2006 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 3).

¹⁷⁹ Caldwell, Vitacco et al., 2006 (MSMS design 3, EPPI overall 3).

For example see, WSIPP, 2015a; WSIPP, 2015b; Aos & Drake, 2013; Rietzel & Carbonell, 2006.

Borduin et al., 2009 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3); Letourneau et al., 2009 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3); Letourneau et al., 2013 (MSMS design 5; EPPI overall 3). Sexual offending outcomes based on either self report or arrest.

Worling et al., 2010 (MSMS design 4; EPPI overall 2). The Sexual Abuse: Family Education and Treatment (SAFE-T) Program. The comparison group was composed of treatment refusers, treatment drop-outs, and those who received alternative treatments.

Daly et al., 2013 (MSMS design 3; EPPI overall 2). Note that prior criminal history was found to have the strongest impact on future offending.

offending, involving the parents in the intervention was thought to be more effective than when parents were not engaged. 184 Additionally, the quality of the relationship with the practitioner may be particularly important to the young person. For young males who had not reoffended between one and five years post intervention, the important components of the programme were considered to be: peer support, regular structure to their day, and the therapeutic relationship. 185 Some evidence indicated that effective multi-agency working, alongside safe, secure housing and education 186 can improve outcomes with this group; however a lack of strategic oversight and embedded structures for inter-agency working could undermine good practice. 187

Halse et al., 2012 (EPPI overall 3).
 Franey et al., 2004 (EPPI overall 2).

¹⁸⁶ England, 2009 (EPPI overall 3).

Calderbank et al., 2013 (EPPI overall 3).

6. Conclusions

This study aimed to consider the available evidence to assess what works to manage young people in the youth justice system. This section offers a high level synthesis of the reviewed evidence and consideration should be given to these findings when designing and delivering programmes for young people to secure the best outcomes.

When reviewing findings, attention should be paid to the issues and caveats set out in Section 2.3. The majority of these findings are from evaluations conducted in the USA and their transferability to an English and Welsh context should be considered given the different legal and sentencing frameworks as well as economic and social contexts.

In agreement with previous reviews, the approaches that tend to be the most effective at reducing youth reoffending are those that: are targeted at individuals who are most at risk of reoffending; consider their needs (including pre-existing risks); assess their ability to respond to services provided; and, take into account the wider context within which the offence occurred. Multiple coordinated services which address a range of offending related risks and needs rather than a single factor are also associated with an increased likelihood of reducing reoffending among young people.

When applying risk based or other approaches to inform rehabilitation planning, it must be borne in mind that some individuals will desist from crime without any intervention. There is also evidence to suggest that drawing young people who commit low level crimes into the formal youth justice system may increase their reoffending. Therefore, diversionary approaches, including restorative justice, which direct these individuals away from the justice system may be appropriate for some young people.

A number of good quality reviews of the international studies show that recidivism can be reduced by well implemented therapeutic interventions both within community and custody settings. The programmes that tend to have better reoffending outcomes are characterised by using a combination of skills training and cognitive behavioural intervention, rather than deploying punitive or surveillance focussed programmes.

Within the community, effective programmes can be characterised by strong inter-agency partnerships that are well managed, with appropriate strategic leadership. Partnership protocols need to be embedded into routine practice. Strong international evidence shows that family based therapeutic interventions that draw on the community and also consider

wider offender needs can be effective and deliver a positive net return on investment. However, the family can itself be a setting of trauma, abuse and exploitation, and this may be particularly relevant for those young people who come to the attention of youth offending teams. Therefore, this needs to be considered as part of intervention planning for young offenders.

Community based interventions tend to be more effective than custody. However, some young people will always need to go to custody and these young people are likely to be those in most need of intensive intervention. Where appropriate, consideration should be given to moving young people to well trained and well supported foster carers. Good quality supervision in custody can also require planning for release and resettlement to be an integral part of the sentence, and for young people's needs to be assessed in terms of transition back to the community as well as institutional adjustment. Brokers or advocates who will help guide young people through transition and be available when needed are worth considering.

Prison visitation programmes aimed at young people at risk of offending were not found to reduce offending behaviour; indeed, they can increase the likelihood of committing crime. In addition, military style 'boot camps' run as alternative to custody were also unlikely to reduce reoffending.

No one style of talking with or to young people is going to resonate either with all staff or all those in their care. However, there is some consensus that effective communication is characterised by mutual understanding, respect and fairness. Motivational interviewing and other techniques that will allow a young person to confront the consequences of his or her actions may be useful when deployed in conjunction with other support and individual therapies. Throughout, it is important to remember that a young person's cognitive reasoning and coping styles will have been affected, to some extent, by her or his life experiences.

Finally, in all settings young people need to be encouraged to develop agency, autonomy and respect for others as well as themselves. This requires commitment from staff as well as the young people themselves. Care should be taken to make sure that young people understand how they arrived at their position, and how to move forward.

References

Abrams, L. S. (2007). From corrections to community: Youth offenders' perceptions of the challenges of transition. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, *44*, 31-53. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1300/J076v44n02_02

Abrams, L. S. (2006). Listening to juvenile offenders: Can residential treatment prevent recidivism? *Child & Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 23, 61-85. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10560-005-0029-2

Ahonen, L., & Degner, J. (2013). Staff group unanimity in the care of juveniles in institutional treatment: Routines, rituals, and relationships. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, *52*, 119-137. doi:10.1080/10509674.2012.751953

Ahonen, L., & Degner, J. (2012). *Negative peer cultures in juvenile institutional settings: Staff as couch coaches or couch slouches.* Journal of Offender Rehabilitation, 51, 316-330. doi:10.1080/10509674.2012.683238

Allen, G. (2011). Early intervention: The next steps. An independent report to her majesty's government. (No. 404489/0111). London, England: HM Cabinet Office.

Andrews, D. A., Bonta, J., & Hoge, R. D. (1990). Classification for effective rehabilitation: Rediscovering psychology. *Criminal Justice and Behaviour, 17,* 19-52.

Andrews, D. A., & Bonta, J. (2010). The psychology of criminal conduct. Routledge.

Aos, S., Miller, M., & Drake, E. (2006). *Evidence-based public policy options to reduce future prison construction, criminal justice costs, and crime rates*. Olympia: Washington state institute for public policy.

Aos, S., & Drake, E. (2013). *Prison, police, and programs: Evidence-based options that reduce crime and save money.* (Doc. No. 13-11-1901). Olympia: Washington State Institute for Public Policy.

Baffour, T. D. (2006). Ethnic and gender differences in offending patterns: Examining family group conferencing interventions among at-risk adolescents. *Child & Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 23, 557-578. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10560-006-0075-4

Baker, K., Jones, S., Roberts, C. & Merrington, S. (2003) *Validity and Reliability of ASSET*. London: Youth Justice Board.

Baker, K., Jones, S., Merrington, S., & Roberts, C. (2005) *Further Development of Asset.* London: Youth Justice Board.

Bank, L., Marlowe, J. H., Reid, J. B., Patterson, G. R., & Weinrott, M. R. (1991). A comparative evaluation of parent-training interventions for families of chronic delinquents. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *19*, 15-33. doi:10.1007/BF00910562

Barnoski, R., & Aos, S. (2004) *Outcome evaluation of Washington State's research-based programs for juvenile offenders*. Olympia. Washington State Institute for Public Policy http://www.wsipp.wa.gov/ReportFile/852/Wsipp_Outcome-Evaluation-of-Washington-States-Research-Based-Programs-for-Juvenile-Offenders_Full-Report.pdf

- Barrett, M. S., & Baker, J. S. (2012). Developing learning identities in and through music: A case study of the outcomes of a music programme in an Australian juvenile detention centre. *International Journal of Music Education, 30,* 244-259. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0255761411433721
- Barton, W. H., & Butts, J. A. (1990). Viable options: Intensive supervision programs for juvenile. *Crime & Delinquency*, *36*, 238. doi:10.1177/0011128790036002004
- Behrens, C. L. (2010). Evaluating the effectiveness of moral reconation therapy (MRT) with the juvenile offender population. ProQuest Information & Learning; US. (Dissertation Abstract: 2010-99130-102). Retrieved from: http://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd/11070/
- Belur, J. (2013). *Education, employment and training. project oracle synthesis study 01/13.* London, England: London's Children and Youth Evidence Hub.
- Bergseth, K. J., & Bouffard, J. A. (2013). Examining the effectiveness of a restorative justice program for various types of juvenile offenders. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, *57*, 1054-1075. doi:10.1177/0306624X12453551
- Blechman, E. A., Maurice, A., Buecker, B., & Helberg, C. (2000). Can mentoring or skill training reduce recidivism? Observational study with propensity analysis. *Prevention Science*, *1*, 139-155. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1010073222476
- Blomberg, T. G., Bales, W. D., Mann, K., Piquero, A. R., & Berk, R. A. (2011). Incarceration, education and transition from delinquency. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *39*, 355-365. doi:10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2011.04.003
- Borduin, C. M., Mann, B. J., Cone, L. T., Henggeler, S. W., Fucci, B. R., Blaske, D. M., & Williams, R. A. (1995). Multisystemic treatment of serious juvenile offenders: Long-term prevention of criminality and violence. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology, 63,* 569-578. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.63.4.569
- Borduin, C. M., Schaeffer, C. M., & Heiblum, N. (2009). A randomized clinical trial of multisystemic therapy with juvenile sexual offenders: Effects on youth social ecology and criminal activity. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology*, 77, 26-37. doi:10.1037/a0013035
- Bouffard, J. A., & Bergseth, K. J. (2008). The impact of reentry services on juvenile offenders' recidivism. *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice, 6,* 295-318. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1541204007313384
- Bradshaw, W., & Roseborough, D. (2005). Restorative justice dialogue: The impact of mediation and conferencing on juvenile recidivism. *Federal Probation, 69,* 15-22. Retrieved from
- http://www.uscourts.gov/FederalCourts/ProbationPretrialServices/FederalProbationJournal.aspx
- Brugman, D., & Bink, M. (2011). Effects of the EQUIP peer intervention program on self-serving cognitive distortions and recidivism among delinquent male adolescents. *Psychology, Crime and Law, 17,* 345-358. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10683160903257934
- Burraston, B. O., Bahr, S. J., & Cherrington, D. J. (2013). *Reducing juvenile delinquency with automated cell phone calls.* International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 58, 522-536. doi:10.1177/0306624X13480947

- Burraston, B. O., Cherrington, D. J., & Bahr, S. J. (2012). Reducing juvenile recidivism with cognitive training and a cell phone follow-up: An evaluation of the realvictory program. International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 56, 61-80. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0306624X10388635
- Butler, S., Baruch, G., Hickey, N., & Fonagy, P. (2011). *A randomized controlled trial of multisystemic therapy and a statutory therapeutic intervention for young offenders*. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 50, 1220-1235. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2011.09.017
- Calderbank, L., Behan, D., Keane, A., Wilshaw, M., Chamerlain, K., Richardson, I., Hardwick, N. (2013). *Examining multi-agency responses to children and young people who sexually offend.* London, England: Criminal Justice Joint Inspection.
- Caldwell, M. F., Vitacco, M., & Van Rybroek, G. J. (2006). Are violent delinquents worth treating?: A cost-benefit analysis. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency, 43,* 148-168. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0022427805280053
- Caldwell, M., Skeem, J., Salekin, R., & Van Rybroek, G. (2006). Treatment response of adolescent offenders with psychopathy features: A 2-year follow-up. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 33, 571-596. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0093854806288176
- Castellano, T. C., & Soderstrom, I. R. (1992). *Therapeutic wilderness programs and juvenile recidivism: A program evaluation. Journal of Offender Rehabilitation, 17,* 19-46. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1300/J076v17n03_02
- Chamberlain, P., & Moore, K. (1998). A clinical model for parenting juvenile offenders: A comparison of group care versus family care. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 3,* 375-386. doi:10.1177/1359104598033004
- Chamberlain, P., & Reid, J. B. (1998). Comparison of two community alternatives to incarceration for chronic juvenile offenders. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology, 66,* 624-633. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.66.4.624
- Chamberlain, P., Leve, L. D., & DeGarmo, D. S. (2007). Multidimensional treatment foster care for girls in the juvenile justice system: 2-year follow-up of a randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology, 75,* 187-193. 10.1037/0022-006x.75.1.187
- Clark, H. G., Mathur, S. R., & Helding, B. (2011). Transition services for juvenile detainees with disabilities: Findings on recidivism. *Education & Treatment of Children, 34*, 511-529. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1353/etc.2011.0040
- Cordis Bright Consulting. (2015). *Preventing gang and youth violence: A review of risk and protective factors.* London: Early Intervention Foundation / Home Office. http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/preventing-gang-and-youth-violence/
- Criminal Justice Joint Inspection. (2010). *Message in a bottle: A joint inspection of youth alcohol misuse and offending*. London: Care Quality Commission.
- Daly, K., Bouhours, B., Broadhurst, R., & Loh, N. (2013). Youth sex offending, recidivism and restorative justice: Comparing court and conference cases. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Criminology, 46,* 241-267. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0004865812470383

- D'Amico, E. J., Hunter, S. B., Miles, J. N. V., Ewing, B. A., & Osilla, K. C. (2013). A randomized controlled trial of a group motivational interviewing intervention for adolescents with a first time alcohol or drug offense. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment, 45,* 400-408. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2013.06.005
- Davidson, J. T., Pasko, L., & Chesney-Lind, M. (2011). "She's way too good to lose": An evaluation of Honolulu's girls court. *Women & Criminal Justice, 21,* 308-327. doi:10.1080/08974454.2011.609406
- Dembo, R., Ramirez Garnica, G., Rollie, M., Schmeidler, J., Livingston, S., & Hartsfield, A. (2000). Youth recidivism twelve months after a family empowerment intervention: Final report. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation, 31,* 29-65. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1300/J076v31n03_03
- Dembo, R., Ramirez Garnica, G., Schmeidler, J., Rollie, M., Livingstone, S., & Hartfield, A. (2001). Long-term impact of a family empowerment intervention on juvenile offender recidivism. Journal of Offender Rehabilitation, 33, 33-57. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1300/J076v33n01_02
- Deschenes, E. P., & Greenwood, P. W. (1998). Alternative placements for juvenile offenders: Results from the evaluation of the nokomis challenge program. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, *35*, 267-294. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0022427898035003002
- Diamond, B., Morris, R. G., & Caudill, J. W. (2011). Sustaining families, dissuading crime: The effectiveness of a family preservation program with male delinquents. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *39*, 338-343. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2011.03.005
- Dowden, C., & Andrews, D. (2004). The importance of staff practice in delivering effective correctional treatment: A meta-analytic review of core correctional practice. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 48,* 203-214. doi:10.1177/0306624X03257765
- Elrod, H. P., & Minor, K. I. (1992). Second wave evaluation of a multi-faceted intervention for juvenile court probationers. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, *36*, 247-262. doi:10.1177/0306624X9203600308
- England, R. (2009). *Adolescents with sexually inappropriate behaviours: Background, Characteristics and approaches to intervention.* (Unpublished PhD). University of Liverpool.
- Fagan, J. (1990). Treatment and reintegration of violent juvenile offenders: Experimental results. *Justice Quarterly*, *7*, 233-263. doi:10.1080/07418829000090571
- Farrington, D. P., & Welsh, B. C. (2005). Randomized experiments in criminology: What have we learned in the last two decades? *Journal of Experimental Criminology, 1,* 9-38. doi:10.1007/s11292-004-6460-0
- Farrington, D. P., & Welsh, B. C. (2007). Saving children from a life of crime: Early risk factors and effective interventions. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Fass, S. M., & Pi, C. R. (2002). Getting tough on juvenile crime: An analysis of costs and benefits. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency, 39,* 363-399. doi:10.1177/002242702237285
- Fendrich, M., & Archer, M. (1998). Long-term rearrest rates in a sample of adjudicated delinquents: Evaluating the impact of alternative programs. *Prison Journal, 78,* 360. doi:10.1177/0032885598078004002

- Ford, J. D., & Hawke, J. (2012). Trauma affect regulation psychoeducation group and milieu intervention outcomes in juvenile detention facilities. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 21,* 365-384. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2012.673538
- Franey, K. C., Viglione, D. J., Wayson, P., Clipson, C., & Brager, R. (2004). An investigation of successfully treated adolescent sex offenders. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse: Research, Treatment, & Program Innovations for Victims, Survivors, & Offenders, 13,* 295-317. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1300/J070v13n03_15
- Garrido, V., & Morales, L.A. (2007). Serious (violent and chronic) juvenile offenders: a Systematic Review of treatment effectiveness in secure corrections. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, *7* (3), 1-46. doi:10.4073/csr.2007.7
- Goffman, E. (1963). Stigma: *Notes on the management of spoiled identity*. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Gordon, D. A., Graves, K., & Arbuthnot, J. (1995). *The effect of Functional Family Therapy for delinquents on adult criminal behavior. Criminal Justice and Behavior, 22,* 60-73. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0093854895022001005
- Gough, D. (2007). Weight of evidence: A framework for the appraisal of the quality and relevance of evidence. *Research Papers in Education*, 22, 213-228. doi:10.1080/02671520701296189
- Gray, E. (2013). What Happens to Persistent and Serious Young Offenders When They Grow Up? A Follow-Up Study of the First Recipients of Intensive Supervision and Surveillance. London, England: Youth Justice Board. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/395969/isspfollow-up-report.pdf
- Greenwood, P. W., & Turner, S. T. (1993). Evaluation of the paint creek youth center: A residential program for serious delinquents. *Criminology*, *31*, 263-279. doi:10.1111/j.1745-9125.1993.tb01130.x
- Gyateng, T., Moretti, A., May, T., & Turnbull, P. J. (2013). *Young people and the secure estate: Needs and interventions.* London, England: Youth Justice Board.
- Haines, A., Goldson, B., Haycox, R., Houten, S., Lane, S., McGuire, J., & Whittington, R. (2012). *Evaluation of the youth justice liaison and diversion (YJLD) pilot scheme; Final report.* London: Department of Health.
- https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215118/dh_13 3007.pdf
- Haines, K., Case, S, Davies, K., & Anthony, C. (2013) The Swansea Bureau: A model of diversion from the Youth Justice System. *International Journal of Law, Crime and Justice*, 1-21 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijlcj.2013.04.002
- Haines, A., Lane, S., McGuire, J., Perkins, E., & Whittington, R. (2014). *Offending outcomes of a mental health youth diversion pilot scheme in England*. Criminal Behaviour and Mental Health, 25(2), 126-140.
- Haines, K., & Case, S. (2012). Is the scaled approach a failed approach? *Youth Justice, 12,* 212-228. doi:10.1177/1473225412461212.

- Halse, A., Grant, J., Thornton, J., Indermaur, D., Stevens, G., & Chamarette, C. (2012). Intrafamilial adolescent sex offenders' response to psychological treatment. *Psychiatry, Psychology and Law, 19*, 221-235. doi: 10.1080/13218719.2011.561763
- Hazel, N., Wright, S., Liddle, M., Renshaw, J., & Gray, P. (2012). *Evaluation of the North West Resettlement Consortium: Final report.* Salford: University of Salford.
- Henggeler, S. W., & Sheidow, A. J. (2012). Empirically supported family-based treatments for conduct disorder and delinquency in adolescents. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy, 38,* 30-58. doi:10.1111/j.1752-0606.2011.00244.x
- Henggeler, S. W., Clingempeel, W., Brondino, M. J., & Pickrel, S. G. (2002). Four-year follow-up of multisystemic therapy with substance-abusing and substance-dependent juvenile offenders. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 41*, 868-874. doi:10.1097/00004583-200207000-00021
- Henggeler, S. W., Pickrel, S. G., & Brondino, M. J. (1999). Multisystemic treatment of substance-abusing and dependent delinquents: Outcomes, treatment fidelity, and transportability. *Mental Health Services Research*, *1*, 171-184. doi:10.1023/A:1022373813261
- Henggeler, S. W., Schoenwald, S. K., Swenson, C. C., & Borduin, C. M. (2006). *Methodological critique and meta-analysis as Trojan horse. Children and Youth Services Review*, 28, 447-457. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2005.07.001
- Home Office. (2013). *Multi-agency working and information sharing project: early findings.* London: Home Office.
- https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/225012/MASH _Product.pdf (Accessed 20 October 2015).
- Horvath, M.A.H., Alys, K., Massey, K., Pina, A., Scally, M., & Adler, J.R. (2013). *A Rapid Evidence Assessment on the Effects that Access and Exposure to Pornography has on Children and Young People*. London: Office for the Children's Commissioner.
- Hughes, J. (2003). *The impact of Blagg on challenging and reducing offending by young people*. Retrieved from: http://www.artsevidence.org.uk/media/uploads/evaluation-downloads/tipp-blagg-evaluation-2003.pdf
- Institute for Criminal Policy Research (ICPR). (2012). Assessing young people in police custody: An examination of the operation of Triage schemes. London: Home Office.
- Jane, E. C. (2010). Psychology for engaging vulnerable young people: The role of the community educational psychologist in supporting professionals who work with young people. (Unpublished D. Ed. Psy). University of Exeter; Exeter, England Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10036/117466
- Jeong, S., McGarrell, E. F., & Hipple, N. K. (2012). Long-term impact of family group conferences on re-offending: The Indianapolis restorative justice experiment. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, *8*, 369-385. doi:10.1007/s11292-012-9158-8
- Jewell, J. D., Malone, M. D., Rose, P., Sturgeon, D., & Owens, S. (2013). A multiyear follow-up study examining the effectiveness of a cognitive behavioral group therapy program on the recidivism of juveniles on probation. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*. Retrieved from http://ijo.sagepub.com/

- Jolliffe, D., & Farrington, D. (2008). *The influence of mentoring on re-offending*. Stockholm: The Swedish National Council for Crime Prevention.
- Josi, D., & Sechrest, D. (1999). A pragmatic approach to parole aftercare: Evaluation of a community reintegration program for high-risk youthful offenders. *Justice Quarterly, 16,* 51-80. doi:10.1080/07418829900094051
- Kim, H. J., & Gerber, J. (2012). The effectiveness of reintegrative shaming and restorative justice conferences: Focusing on juvenile offenders' perceptions in Australian reintegrative shaming experiments. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, *56*, 1063-1079. doi:10.1177/0306624X11418916
- Klenowski, P. M., Bell, K. J., & Dodson, K. D. (2010). An empirical evaluation of juvenile awareness programs in the united states: Can juveniles be "scared straight"? *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 49, 254-272. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10509671003716068
- Koehler, J. A., Hamilton, L., & Lösel, F. A. (2013a). Correctional treatment programmes for young offenders in Europe: A survey of routine practice. *European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research*, *19*, 387-400. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10610-013-9206-6
- Koehler, J. A., Lösel, F., Akoensi, T. D.,& Humphreys, D. K. (2013b). A systematic review and meta-analysis on the effects of young offender treatment programs in Europe. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, *9*, 19–43. doi:10.1007/s11292-012-9159-7
- Lambie, I., Seymour, F., & Popaduk, T. (2012). Young people and caregivers' perceptions of an intervention program for children who deliberately light fires. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 35, 445-452. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2012.01.007
- Larkins, C., & Wainwright, J. (2013). 'Just putting me on the right track' young people's perspectives on what helps them stop offending. Preston; University of Central Lancashire. Retrieved from http://clok.uclan.ac.uk/9483/1/Larkins%20and%20Wainwright%202014%20-%20right%20track%20PUBLISHED.pdf
- Latimer, J., Dowden, C., & Muise, D. (2005). The effectiveness of restorative justice practices: A meta-analysis. *The prison journal*, *85*(2), 127-144.
- Leeman, L. W., Gibbs, J. C., & Fuller, D. (1993). Evaluation of a multi-component group treatment program for juvenile delinquents. *Aggressive Behavior, 19,* 281-292. doi: 10.1002/1098-2337(1993)19:4<281::AID-B2480190404>3.0.CO;2-W
- Leschied, A. W., & Cunningham, A. (2002). Seeking effective interventions for serious young offenders. Interim results of a four-year randomized study for multisystem therapy in Ontario, Canada. Ontario, Canada: Centre for Children and Families in the Justice System.
- Letourneau, E. J., Borduin, C. M., Armstrong, K. S., Henggeler, S. W., McCart, M. R., & Schewe, P. A. (2013). Two-year follow-up of a randomized effectiveness trial evaluating MST for juveniles who sexually offend. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *27*, 978-985. doi:10.1037/a0034710
- Letourneau, E. J., Henggeler, S. W., Borduin, C. M., Schewe, P. A., McCart, M. R., Chapman, J. E., & Saldana, L. (2009). Multisystemic therapy for juvenile sexual offenders: 1-year results from a randomized effectiveness trial. *Journal of Family Psychology, 23,* 89-102. doi:10.1037/a0014352

- Leve, L. D., Chamberlain, P., Smith, D. K., & Harold, G. T. (2012). *Multidimensional treatment foster care as an intervention for juvenile justice girls in out-of-home care.* In S. Miller, L. D. Leve, & P. K. Kerig (Eds.), *Delinquent girls: Contexts, relationships, and adaptation* (pp. 147-160). New York, NY: Springer.
- Lipsey, M. W., Wilson, D. B., & Cothern, L. (2000). *Effective intervention for serious juvenile offenders*. Washington, USA: US Department of Justice.
- Lipsey, M. W. (1999). Can intervention rehabilitate serious delinquents? *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 564(1), 142-166
- Lipsey, M.W. (2009). The primary factors that characterize effective interventions with juvenile offenders: A meta-analytic overview. *Victims and Offenders*, *4*, 124–47.
- Lipsey, M. W., Howell, J.C., Kelly, R.M., Chapman, G., & Carver, D. (2010) *Improving the effectiveness of juvenile justice programs. A new perspective on evidence based practice.* Washington, DC: Center for Juvenile Justice Reform.
- Littell, J. H., Campbell, M., Green, S., & Toews, B. (2005). Multi-systemic therapy for social, emotional, and behavioral problems in youth aged 10-17. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 4*, http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD004797.pub4/full
- Little, S. (2014). Effectiveness of formal police cautioning for reducing system re-contact. Unpublished PhD Thesis. Griffith University, Australia.
- Lundahl, B., & Burke, B.L. (2009). The Effectiveness and Applicability of Motivational Interviewing: A Practice-Friendly Review of Four Meta-Analyses. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 65(11), 1232—1245.
- Martsch, M. D. (2005). A comparison of two group interventions for adolescent aggression: High process versus low process. *Research on Social Work Practice, 15,* 8-18. doi:10.1177/1049731504267333
- McAra, L., & McVie, S. (2007). Youth Justice? The Impact of System Contact on Patterns of Desistance from Offending. *European Journal of Criminology, 4(3), 315-34.*
- McGarrell Edmund, F., & Kroovand Hipple, N. (2007). Family group conferencing and re-offending among first-time juvenile offenders: The Indianapolis experiment. *Justice Quarterly*, 24, 221-246. doi:10.1080/07418820701294789
- McMackin, R. A., Tansi, R., & LaFratta, J. (2004). Special section: Studies in the rehabilitation of juvenile offenders: Recidivism among juvenile offenders over periods ranging from one to twenty years following residential treatment. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 38, 1-15. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1300/J076v38n03_01
- Meade, B., & Steiner, B. (2010). The total effects of boot camps that house juveniles: A systematic review of the evidence. *Journal of Criminal Justice, 38,* 841-853. doi:10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2010.06.007
- Ministry of Justice. (2012). *Compendium of Re-offending Statistics and Analysis*. Ministry of Justice Statistics Bulletin. HMSO: Justice Statistics Analytical Services.
- Ministry of Justice. (2013). *Transforming Youth Custody: Putting education at the heart of detention.* Consultation Paper CP4/2013. London: Ministry of Justice. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/181588/transforming-youth-custody.pdf

Ministry of Justice. (2015). *Proven offending statistics January 2013 to December 2014.* London: Ministry of Justice

Mitchell, J., & Palmer, E. J. (2004). Evaluating the "reasoning and rehabilitation" program for young offenders. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 39, 31-45. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1300/J076v39n04_03

Moody, E. E. J. (1997). Lessons from pair counseling with incarcerated juvenile delinquents. *Journal of Addictions & Offender Counseling, 18,* 10-25. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1874.1997.tb00122.x

Moore, T., McArthur, M., & Saunders, V. (2013). Young people talk about transitioning from youth detention to the community: Making good. *Australian Social Work, 66,* 328-343. doi:10.1080/0312407x.2012.752020

Mulvey, E. P. (2011). *Highlights from pathways to desistance: A longitudinal study of serious adolescent offenders*. Washington: Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.

McVie, S. (2009) 'Criminal careers and young people' in M. Barry and F. McNeill (eds.) Youth Justice and Youth Offending. London: Jessica Kingsley.

National Council on Crime and Delinquency. (2009). *In Search of Evidence-based Practice in Juvenile Corrections: An evaluation of Florida's Avon Park youth academy and STREET smart program.* (No. 228804). Unpublished report.

Nee, C., & Ellis, T. (2005). Treating offending children: What works? *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, *10*, 133-148. doi:10.1348/135532504X15330

Newman, M., Vigurs, C., Perry, A. E., Hallam, G., Schertler, E. P. V., Johnson, M., & Wall, R. (2012). *A systematic review of selected interventions to reduce juvenile re-offending.*Research Evidence in Education Library. London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London. Retrieved from http://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/cms/Default.aspx?tabid=3360

Norton, C. L., & Holguin, B. (2011). Promoting ecological health: An exploratory study of an environmentally based program for formerly incarcerated young adults. *Ecopsychology, 3,* 205-212. doi:10.1089/eco.2011.0040

O'Connor, R.M. & Waddell, S. (2015). What works to prevent gang involvement, youth violence and crime. A rapid review of interventions delivered in the UK and abroad. London: Early Intervention Foundation/ Home Office. http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/preventing-gang-and-youth-violence/

Olsson, T. M. (2010). Intervening in youth problem behavior in Sweden: A pragmatic cost analysis of MST from a randomized trial with conduct disordered youth. *International Journal of Social Welfare*, 19, 194-205. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2397.2009.00653.x

Petrosino, A., Turpin-Petrosino, C., & Guckenburg, S. (2010). Formal system processing of juveniles: Effects on delinquency. *Campbell Systematic Reviews, 1,* 3-80. doi:10.4073/csr.2010.1

Petrosino, A., Turpin-Petrosino, C., Hollis-Peel, M., Lavenberg, J. G. (2013). Scared straight and other juvenile awareness programs for preventing juvenile delinquency: A systematic review. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, *5*, 6-53. doi:10.4073/csr.2013.5

- Phillips, L., Smith, R., Martin, K., Mehta, P., & Durbin, B. (2012). *Evaluation of the YJB pilot resettlement support panel scheme*. Cardiff: Welsh Government Social Research.
- Powell, H., Scott, W., Meadows, P., Boswell, G., & Mcsweeny, T. (2012). *Evaluation of the London youth reducing re-offending programme (daedalus). Final report.* London: IPSOS Mori.
- Pullmann, M. D., Kerbs, J., Koroloff, N., Veach-White, E., Gaylor, R., & Sieler, D. (2006). *Juvenile offenders with mental health needs: Reducing recidivism using wraparound.* Crime and Delinquency, 52, 375-397. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0011128705278632
- Reitzel, L. R., & Carbonell, J. L. (2006). The effectiveness of sexual offender treatment for juveniles as measured by recidivism: A meta-analysis. *Sexual Abuse: Journal of Research and Treatment*, *18*, 401-421. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/107906320601800407
- Rhoades, K. A., Chamberlain, P., Roberts, R., & Leve, L. D. (2013). MTFC for high-risk adolescent girls: A comparison of outcomes in England and the United States. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Substance Abuse*, 22, 435-449 doi:10.1080/1067828X.2013.788887
- Rodriguez, N. (2007). Restorative justice at work: Examining the impact of restorative justice resolutions on juvenile recidivism. *Crime & Delinquency, 53*, 355-379. doi:10.1177/0011128705285983
- Ross, A., Duckworth, K., Smith, D. J., Wyness, G., & Schoon, I. (2011). *Prevention and reduction: A review of strategies for intervening early to prevent or reduce youth crime and anti-social behaviour.* (DFE-RR111). London: Department for Education.
- Rubak, S., Sandbæk, A., Lauritzen, T., & Christensen, B. (2005). Motivational interviewing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of General Practice*, *55*(*513*), 305-312.
- Sawyer, A. M., & Borduin, C. M. (2011). Effects of multisystemic therapy through midlife: A 21.9-year follow-up to a randomized clinical trial with serious and violent juvenile offenders. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 79,* 643-652. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0024862
- Schaeffer, C. M., & Borduin, C. M. (2005). Long-term follow-up to a randomized clinical trial of multisystemic therapy with serious and violent juvenile offenders. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 73, 445-453. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.73.3.445
- Schwalbe, C. S., Gearing, R. E., MacKenzie, M. J., Brewer, K. B., & Ibrahim, R. (2012). A meta-analysis of experimental studies of diversion programs for juvenile offenders. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 32, 26-33. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2011.10.002
- Sherman, L.W., Gottfredson, D.C., Mackenzie, D.L., Eck, J., Reuter, P., & Bushway, S.D. (1998). *Preventing Crime: What works, what doesn't, what's promising.* Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice.
- Smith, D. K., Chamberlain, P., & Deblinger, E. (2012). *Adapting multidimensional treatment foster care for the treatment of co-occurring trauma and delinquency in adolescent girls.*Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma, 5, 224-238. doi:10.1080/19361521.2012.697101
- Smith, D. (2007) 'Crime and the life-course' in M. Maguire, R. Morgan & R. Reiner (eds.) The Oxford Handbook of Criminology. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Social Research Unit. (2012). *Youth Justice, Investing in Children*. Dartington: Social Research Unit.

- Social Research Unit. (2013). *Investing in Children; Technical Report*. Dartington: Social Research Unit.
- St James-Roberts, I., Greenlaw, G., Simon, A., & Hurry, J. (2005). *National evaluation of Youth Justice Board mentoring schemes 2001 to 2004*. London: Youth Justice Board.
- Strang, H., Sherman, L. W., Mayo-Wilson, E., Woods, D., & Ariel, B. (2013). Restorative Justice Conferencing (RJC) Using Face-to-Face Meetings of Offenders and Victims: Effects on Offender Recidivism and Victim Satisfaction. A Systematic Review. Campbell Systematic Reviews, 9(12).
- Tarling, R., Davison, T., & Clarke, A. (2004). *The national evaluation of the youth justice board's mentoring projects*. London: Youth Justice Board. Retrieved from http://yibpublications.justice.gov.uk/en-gb/Resources/Downloads/mentoringfull.pdf
- Timmons-Mitchell, J., Bender, M. B., & Kishna, M. A. (2006). An independent effectiveness trial of multisystemic therapy with juvenile justice youth. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, *35*, 227-236. doi: 10.1207/s15374424jccp3502_6
- Tolan, P., Henry, D., Schoeny, M., & Bass, A. (2008). Mentoring interventions to affect juvenile delinquency and associated problems. *Campbell Systematic Reviews, 16,* 1-112. doi:10.4073/csr.2008.16
- Tolan, P., Henry, D., Schoeny, M., Bass, A., Lovegrove, P., & Nichols, E. (2013). Mentoring interventions to affect juvenile delinquency and associated problems: A systematic review. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, *9*(10).
- Vitopoulos, N. A., Peterson-Badali, M., & Skilling, T. A. (2012). The relationship between matching service to criminogenic need and recidivism in male and female youth: Examining the RNR principles in practice. *Criminal Justice and Behavior, 39,* 1025-1041. doi:10.1177/0093854812442895
- Ward, T., & Brown, M. (2004). The good lives model and conceptual issues in offender rehabilitation. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 10,* 243-257.
- Weaver, R. D., & Campbell, D. (2015). Fresh Start: A meta-analysis of aftercare programs for juvenile offenders. *Research on Social Work Practice*, *25*(2), 201-211.
- Wiebush, R. G. (1993). Juvenile intensive supervision: The impact on felony offenders diverted from institutional placement. *Crime & Delinquency, 39,* 68-89. doi:10.1177/0011128793039001005
- Wilson, E. & Hinks, S. (2011). Assessing the predictive validity of the Asset youth risk assessment tool using the Juvenile Cohort Study (JCS). London: Ministry of Justice
- Wilson, E. (2013). Youth justice interventions findings from the juvenile cohort study (JCS). London: Ministry of Justice Analytical Series.
- Wilson, H. A., & Hoge, R. D. (2012). The effect of youth diversion programs on recidivism: A meta-analytic review. *Criminal Justice and Behavior, 40,* 497-518. doi:10.1177/0093854812451089
- Wilson, D., MacKenzie, D.L., & Mitchell, F.N. (2005) Effects of correctional boot camps on offending. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 6.

Willis, G. M., & Ward, T. (2013) *The Good Lives Model: Does It Work? Preliminary Evidence* in L. A. Craig, L. Dixon and T. A. Gannon (eds.) *What Works in Offender Rehabilitation: An Evidence-Based Approach to Assessment and Treatment*. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.

Wingrove, J. (2012). "I want to do something a lot better with my life": A qualitative exploration of young people's understanding of their own offending. (Unpublished Masters Dissertation). Guildford; University of Surrey.

Winokur Early, K., Chapman, S. F., & Hand, G. A. (2013). Family-focused juvenile reentry services: A quasi-experimental design evaluation of recidivism outcomes. *Journal of Juvenile Justice*, *2*(2), 1-22.

Woolfenden, S., Williams, K., & Pear, J. (2002). Family and parenting interventions for conduct disorder and delinquency: A meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, *86*, 251-256. doi:10.1136/adc.86.4.251

Worling, J. R., Litteljohn, A., & Bookalam, D. (2010). 20-year prospective follow-up study of specialized treatment for adolescents who offended sexually. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 28, 46-57. doi:10.1002/bsl.912

Wright, S., Hazel, N., Liddle, M., Renshaw, J., & Gray, P. (2013) *Evaluation of the South West Resettlement Consortium: Final report.* Salford: University of Salford.

Washington State Institute for Public Policy. (2013). *Updated Inventory of Evidence-Based, Research-Based, and Promising Practices*. Olympia: Washington State Institute for Public Policy.

Washington State Institute for Public Policy (WSIPP) (2015a) *Inventory of Evidence-Based, Research-Based, and Promising Practices for prevention and intervention services for children and juveniles in child welfare, juvenile justice, and mental health systems.* http://www.wsipp.wa.gov/ReportFile/1610/Wsipp_Updated-Inventory-of-Evidence-based-Research-based-and-Promising-Practices-For-Prevention-and-Intervention-Services-for-Children-and-Juveniles-in-the-Child-Welfare-Juvenile-Justice-and-Mental-Health-Systems_Inventory.pdf

Washington State Institute for Public Policy (WSIPP) (2015b) *Updated Inventory of Evidence-Based, Research-Based, and Promising Practices for prevention and intervention services for children and juveniles in the child welfare, juvenile justice, and mental health systems.* Benefit-Cost and Meta-analysis Results.

http://www.wsipp.wa.gov/ReportFile/1611/Wsipp_Updated-Inventory-of-Evidence-based-Research-based-and-Promising-Practices-For-Prevention-and-Intervention-Services-for-Children-and-Juveniles-in-the-Child-Welfare-Juvenile-Justice-and-Mental-Health-Systems_Benefit-Cost-Results.pdf

Young, D. W., Farrell, J. L., & Taxman, F. S. (2012). *Impacts of juvenile probation training models on youth recidivism.* Justice Quarterly, 30, 1068-1089. doi:10.1080/07418825.2012.673633

Youth Justice Board/ Ministry of Justice. (2015). *Youth Justice Statistics 2013/14*. London: Youth Justice Board

Appendix A

Glossary of interventions and key terms

Aggression Replacement Training

Aggression Replacement Training is a structured programme of cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT). It is aimed at chronically aggressive children and adolescents ages 12-17. If implemented properly, then the programme runs for ten weeks, and the young person attends sessions for three, one hour slots each week. The three areas covered each week are social skills, anger management, and moral reasoning.

Benefit-cost analysis and estimates

Tables 3.1 to 4.3, in the main report set out Dartington Social Research Unit cost estimates for a range of interventions. The various terms included in the tables are defined below.

- Cost: total cost of delivery per person. The actual cost will vary by service provider and the target person;
- Total benefits: sum of benefits to the tax payer, participants and others;
- Benefits minus costs: captures net benefits after subtracting the cost to deliver the intervention;
- Benefit-cost ratio: refers to pounds (£) saved for every pound (£) invested;
- Rate of return on investment: the internal rate of return (IRR), which is used to
 compare interventions, on a like for like basis, on purely economic terms. IRR is
 the interest rate (also known as the discount rate) that will bring the benefits that
 accrue from each intervention over the young person's life to equal the current
 value of cash invested in that intervention; and,
- Risk of loss: potential risk of loss to the investor if they made this investment 100 times. Figure is based on statistical modelling that takes uncertainty in the estimates into account.

See Dartington Social Research Unit 'Investing in Children' website for more information on the methodological approach: http://investinginchildren.eu/search/interventions/treatment

Boot Camp

'Boot Camp' is a phrase used for a particular type of short term incarceration with militaristic characteristics. Originally developed for adult offenders they have also been used for young people who offend. The approach often varies, and how such a policy is implemented and the underpinning philosophy can be both crucial in determining its characteristics (and

effectiveness). All will have an element of military discipline and potentially both staff and young people will be subject to military style dress and behaviours and will participate in hard physical exercise and/or labour. In many, a punitive stance will be taken and the militaristic aspects will be the defining feature of the camp. In some camps, a more therapeutic approach is adopted, both through the sentence and transition from the camp.

Child(ren) First

The aim of the Children First approach is to deliver services to a young person, who is seen and assessed as being more than the label "young offender". It has been implemented in Swansea and evaluated as a promising programme by the Youth Justice Board. First time offenders, who admitted their offence, are eligible for this approach which involves needs assessment and well integrated inter-agency working. See: Haines and Case (2012), also Haines et al., 2013.

Cognitive Behavioural Therapy

Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) has been widely adopted with adults and is also utilised within youth justice settings. CBT relies on insight into one's own thoughts and behaviours and is intended to adjust both thoughts and attitudes so that they will in turn lead to changes in behaviour. Programmes typically last at least 20 weeks and may have different elements of both behavioural and cognitive intervention. It should be noted however that a number of multi-systemic interventions could also come under the umbrella of cognitive behavioural intervention. These have been separated out in line with other literature as they are proprietary programmes with separate bodies of evidence and the CBT makes up part, but not all of such interventions. They include: Aggression Replacement therapy, Functional Family Therapy, Moral Reconation Therapy, Multidimensional Therapeutic Foster Care and Multi Systemic Therapy.

Coordination of Services

Coordination of Services (COS), also known as "WayOUT" is a programme designed for first time entrants to the juvenile justice system. It works with parents and teenagers who are either referred by the courts or self refer. It runs over two consecutive weekends and provides education and skills in areas including parenting, communication, building strengths and conflict resolution.

Dialectical Behavioural Therapy

Dialectical Behavioural Therapy (DBT), which is a form of cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), was originally designed to provide therapists with another way of working with suicidal or borderline personality disordered individuals. It acknowledges current capabilities and capacities of the client and is more accepting and validating than traditional cognitive behavioural therapy. It entails quite structured components (normally group based), individual psychotherapy and ongoing support from a therapist (typically via telephone).

Drugs Courts

Youth drugs courts have been pioneered in the USA. They are specialist hearings that acknowledge the need for rehabilitation and treatment of young people (up to 18 years old) with substance misuse problems that coincide with their offending behaviours. Within a drug court, the level of judicial involvement ongoing throughout the process of supervision is much higher than within a more traditional juvenile court process.

Family Group Conferencing

Family group conferencing is a form of mediation that has grown out of restorative justice. A typical conference will have representatives of the victim, offender and other interested parties, normally social workers and potentially police. Those directly and indirectly affected can be incorporated. This is not a one-off meeting. Good practice would indicate several conversations and planning meetings between the mediator and the interested parties. Once the conference begins, that too may happen in more than one session, particularly if subsequent restitution was agreed or actions need to be monitored in some way. FGC is now routinely used as part of family law, particularly in child protection cases as well as within the youth justice system.

Functional Family Therapy

Functional Family Therapy (FFT) is a programme aimed at young people and their families. It is used in youth justice and welfare/mental health cases. Interventions are offered for between three to four months in an interactive, multi-agency manner. It relies on assessment and concomitant intervention to work with a young person (between 11 and 18) and his or her family. Close attention is paid to the predictive and protective factors that might affect a young person's behaviour and coping strategies. These are both internal to the family and outside it.

Girls' Court

Court hearings specifically for girls were developed in America. Pioneered by Hawaii, other jurisdictions in the USA have subsequently adopted a similar model. The original version is driven by judges who take a lead in the implementation of the sentence going beyond determining disposal. A strong therapeutic stance is taken; girls and their families are expected to attend group work run by the court as well as more routine forms of intervention. All staff at the court are female and girls' and young women's vulnerabilities are fully considered. This has led to similar courts elsewhere that are specialists in cases involving girls and young women who have been sexually exploited or trafficked.

Good Lives Model

The Good Lives Model (GLM) is concerned with individuals' ability to formulate and select goals, construct plans, and to act freely in the implementation of these plans. A closely related assumption is the basic premise that offenders, like all humans, value certain states of mind, personal characteristics, and experiences, which are defined in the GLM as primary goods. Interventions under the GLM are intended to provide the offender with the means to change how he or she approaches life. In trying to implement the GLM with young people, the first step will be to work with each youth to identify her or his targets, assessing how s/he would envisage a good life. Deeper understanding of specific goals or "primary goods" would involve prioritising them and working out what blockages there might be before s/he can attain those primary goods. Intervention would then be tailored to address both the criminogenic (risk) needs and the good lives needs.

Intensive Supervision & Surveillance Programme (England and Wales)

An Intensive Supervision and Surveillance (ISS) requirement, is a community youth justice disposal in England and Wales, which is a high intensity alternative to custody. ISS combines a set period of electronic tagging with a comprehensive and sustained focus on tackling the factors that contribute to the young person's offending behaviour. ISS is aimed at young offenders, aged 10 to 17 years, on the custody threshold and has to be considered as an option before a custodial sentence in given. ISS may also be attached to conditional bail.

Intensive Supervision (USA)

In the USA, Juvenile Intensive Supervision Programs are designed as an alternative to custody and involve strict conditions of compliance. Some programmes include more rehabilitative intervention, while others emphasise surveillance and control. Police or

probation officers have frequent contact with the young people subject to Intensive Supervision and high levels of technical violations can thereby ensue.

Meta-Analysis

A meta-analysis is a statistical technique that combines the results from a number of different studies to obtain a quantitative estimate of the overall effect of a particular intervention on a defined outcome. Meta-analysis produces a statistically stronger conclusion than can be provided by any individual study and therefore more emphasis is usually placed on results from this type of analysis.

Motivational Interviewing

Motivational Interviewing is a form of collaborative dialogue between a practitioner and client. It is typically used with individuals who are ambivalent about taking steps to change certain behaviours. It is a technique that is used to help individuals to confront the consequences of their actions and decisions whilst being guided through ways to resolve challenges. It therefore fits well within strengths based approaches to rehabilitation and is widely used within more therapeutic approaches to change.

Multidimensional Therapeutic Foster Care/Therapeutic Foster Care

See Treatment Foster Care, Oregon (TFCO)

Multisystemic Therapy

Multisystemic Therapy (MST) is a family and community based treatment. It is intended to address serious antisocial behaviour in both young men and young women, between the ages of 12 and 17, in particular those who are highly likely to be taken into care or other institutions. The intervention works in a multifaceted way, situating the young person within a network of their family, peer group, school and wider communities. The intervention will last for around four months and works with other services. MST therapists will typically have a higher degree in social work or counselling and they work intensively with families and young people, often being "on call" 24 hours a day.

Parenting orders

Parenting orders under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 were implemented across England and Wales in June 2000, and were extended under both the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 and Criminal Justice Act 2003. They are made against parents and aim to prevent offending and anti-social behaviour by reinforcing parental responsibility.

Parenting/ Parent Training Programmes

Interventions designed to support and aid parents in their child rearing practice. They have been utilised in conjunction with early intervention for child welfare and potential neglect, alongside substance misuse programming and in America, as part of divorce proceedings, mandated by the family courts. In England and Wales, they can form part of a Parenting Order criminal justice disposal. Support provided may involve direct skills training, education, awareness raising, or help in negotiating other services. Programmes may be voluntary or required and may be stand alone or part of a wider intervention, typically involving multiagency interactions.

Randomised Control Trial

A randomised controlled trial (RCT) is viewed as the gold standard approach for outcome evaluations to answer 'what works' questions. In a RCT, there will be at least two groups, one is the experimental or treatment group and the other group is the control group. The control group may receive either no intervention or treatment as usual. Outcomes between the two groups will be compared to assess the efficacy of the intervention/experiment. Whether a person is assigned to either of these groups is random and the only intentional difference between the two groups is the intervention.

Rapid Evidence Assessment

A Rapid Evidence Assessment (REA) is a way of collating, evaluating and synthesising research and evaluation evidence on a particular topic, as comprehensively as possible, within the constraints of a given timetable.

Reparative Justice

Reparative justice is sometimes used interchangeably with the term "Restorative Justice" and they have developed through similar routes. However, each term can be used differently in the literature and in law, both English and Welsh and International. Reparative justice has, to some extent been codified by the United Nations. In respect to violations of international human rights law, reparation is taken to mean: *restitution, compensation, rehabilitation, satisfaction and guarantees of non-repetition* UN Resolution 60/147 (2005). Similarly in Britain, reparative justice may be postulated as starting with restitution for harm done, and ideally, go beyond that.

Resettlement (can also be called Aftercare, Throughcare or Transitions)

These related concepts are to do with how best to reintegrate a person back into the community, after their sentence, typically after a custodial sentence. Support and rehabilitative programmes are provided to help the individual to adjust to life in the community and to help them not to reoffend.

Restorative Justice

Within restorative justice (RJ), the central focus is not on retribution and blame. Rather, the overarching aim is to address an imbalance within society caused by criminal activity. Thus, the intention of a restorative justice approach is to bring society into equilibrium. The most commonly used strategies are Victim Offender Mediation and Family Group Conferencing. Each is intended to place those who have been victimised more centrally within justice processes and to better facilitate accountability and reintegration of people who have offended.

Risk Needs Responsivity

Derived from the work of Andrews, Bonta and Hoge¹⁸⁸ the model of Risk Needs and Responsivity (RNR) has been widely adopted within criminal justice, including youth domains. The core principles include: risk principle: match the level of service to the offender's risk to re-offend; need principle: assess criminogenic needs and target them in treatment; and responsivity principle: Maximise the offender's ability to learn from a rehabilitative intervention by providing cognitive behavioural treatment and tailoring the intervention to the learning style, motivation, abilities and strengths of the offender.

Scaled Approach

The scaled approach is a way to implement a Risk Needs and Responsivity (RNR) approach within youth justice across England and Wales. Typically, assessments will be made by Youth Offending Team (YOT) practitioners using the 'ASSET' risk assessment tool that considers both static and dynamic reoffending risk indicators and also assesses the young person's wider needs. The findings from an assessment inform the YOT practitioners' intervention plan, which aims to reduce an individual young offenders' offending. Following the 2008 Criminal Justice and Immigration Act, the scaled approach was also implemented with Youth Rehabilitation Orders in late 2009.

.

¹⁸⁸ Andrews et al., 1990; Andrews and Bonta, 2010.

Scared Straight

Scared Straight is a one-off visitation programme for at risk of offending young people (usually aged 12 to 18 years). It uses organised visits to adult prisons with the intention to deter young offenders, or adolescents at risk of becoming delinquent, from involvement in crime. Typically young people are exposed to an aggressive presentation by prisoners of the harsh realities of incarceration. The programme can include a tour of the facility, living the life of an offender for a full day and one to one counselling.

Systematic Review

A systematic review is a process to identify, evaluate and synthesise the available, rigorous research and evaluation about a particular topic, usually to answer 'what works' questions. Individual studies are reviewed and scored using a weight of evidence scale. The methods drawn upon conducting a review are designed to maximise the number and quality of available materials, and they are intended to provide policy and practice relevant answers to key questions.

Therapeutic Alliance/Engagement

Therapeutic alliance is the relationship between a practitioner and his or her client. It reflects the willingness and ability of the service user to engage with the service being offered. It will involve shared views of the purpose of an intervention and the likelihood of a positive outcome.

Treatment Foster Care Oregon (TFCO) (formerly known as Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care)

The ultimate aim of Therapeutic Foster Care and Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care is to return young people to their families. It is acknowledged that this is not always possible but the starting point is that they should, wherever possible, return. Whilst fostered, the young people are placed with carers who are well trained and supervised closely. At any one time, the child or young person being fostered should be the only looked after child/young person within that foster home. The foster carers are provided with additional training and ongoing consultation and support. Supervisors should always have low caseloads and be in daily contact with each MTFC family. Interventions are tailored to the child's age and abilities and both skills training and therapy are provided. For more information see:

http://episcenter.psu.edu/ebp/multidimensional

Victim Offender Mediation

Victim Offender Mediation, which is a form of restorative justice (RJ), typically involves a series of meetings, first between a trained mediator and the victim and offender separately, then bringing all three parties together. The duration and number of meetings involved subsequently should depend on the nature of the offence that was committed, the impact it has had on the parties involved, and how well the agreed plans for restitution or reparation are followed. http://www.restorativejustice.org.uk/resource/ri_models/

Weight of Evidence

The Weight of Evidence is a formalised system by which the methodological rigour of a study paper is assessed. This enables decisions to be made as to whether or not to include a particular source in a review, or how much to privilege its findings within such a review.

Youth Offending Teams (YOTs)

Youth Offending Teams (YOTs) are multi-agency teams made up of representatives from police, probation, education, health and social services, and specialist workers, such as accommodation officers and substance misuse workers. YOTs were set up across England and Wales following the 1998 Crime and Disorder Act with the intention of reducing the risk of young people offending and re-offending.

Youth or Teen Courts

Youth courts divert young people who have offended away from mainstream US youth justice. Before appearing in teen court, the young person and his or her family must agree to abide by the decision of the court and the young person is normally expected to admit guilt. There are a number of different models but they will typically hear the cases of first time, or relatively low level offenders between the ages of 12 and 17. The system is called a teen court, not just because it involves the space to hear the cases of teenagers but because they are staffed by people in their teens. In some cases the court is entirely constituted of volunteer young people. In others, this is modified slightly where the judge is an adult who will normally be a respected community member or member of the legal profession, possibly including professional judges.

Appendix B Methodology

The methodological approach taken to produce this REA is set out in this section.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The following inclusion and exclusion criteria were used to guide the study selection process:

Inclusion criteria:

- studies published from 1st January, 1990 to 28th February, 2014 (exception was made for unpublished sources that were in press, seminal works from other time periods and other materials received via the call for papers);
- studies focused on young offenders, although studies which considered both young offenders and adults were included provided young offender effects were considered separately;
- age range of offenders 10 to under 18 years, unless related to transitions where age range was raised to under 22 years;
- outcome evaluations had to include a measure of reoffending or breach findings;
- process type evaluations had to include consideration of how the intervention was implemented, not just what was implemented;
- english language sources;
- any jurisdiction;
- interventions designed post-conviction, court, Youth Referral Panel or diversion scheme or other such mandated interventions.

Exclusion criteria:

- studies published pre 1990 (unless seminal) and post February 2014, unless received via call for papers;
- early years intervention or prevention programmes that were not part of a court
 mandated or diversionary scheme (unless from a country with a higher age of
 criminal responsibility, or if the call for papers provided material that was a major
 review and/or drew lessons that could be applied to criminal justice mandated
 interventions);
- studies that focused on risk predictors for offending behaviours;
- studies that did not separate adult and young offender findings;

 studies solely considering the under 10s or over 18s, unless related to transitions between youth and adult facilities;

Bibliographic databases and the call for papers

A protocol for searching and enhancing consistency of searching was agreed with commissioners and followed. The list below indicates which databases were searched.

Academic databases:

PsycINFO; ISI Web of knowledge/Web of Science (this includes: Arts and Humanities Citation Index; Conference Proceedings Citation Index; Science Conference Proceedings Citation Index: Social Science and Humanities; Social Sciences Citation Index; Science Citation Index & Science Direct); IBSS (International Bibliography of the Social Sciences); Criminal Justice Abstracts (via Ebsco); LexisNexis; Hein Online; Hein Online; Hein Online; J-Stor; British Library: EthOS; Medline; Ingenta Connect; Emerald Insight; Home Office Science (via .gov.uk) & Scottish, Welsh and NI equivalents; also the equivalents in other countries such as NCJRS; Campbell Collaboration Systematic Reviews.

Grey literature databases:

Google Scholar; Research Gate; GreyNet; CiaoNet (for full text PDFs only);
 RAND; The Joseph Rowntree Foundation; and Barnardos.

Call for papers

Project team members sent requests to their extended networks of collaborators and other researchers and practitioners requesting relevant material. The Forensic Psychology Research Group (FPRG) and Crime and Conflict Research Centre (CCRC) at Middlesex University also put the call out to their contacts.

Search terms used

All search terms and search strings used were agreed with commissioners of the research. The research team started by identifying core ideas, then search strings were created, using Boolean operators as far as possible. Examples of search approach, including search terms are set out below. Example one relates to 'what works' questions and two relates to questions on the implementation of interventions.

sexual OR violen* OR aggress* OR acquisitive OR hate OR radical OR gang*
 OR "serious group offending" OR "serious group offences" OR robb* OR burgl*

- OR theft OR prolific* OR arson* OR breach OR "criminal damage" OR "dangerous driving" OR drug* OR fraud OR forgery OR "motoring offences" OR "motoring offenses" OR "driving offenses" OR "driving offences" OR "public order" OR disorder OR racially aggravated OR "handling stolen goods" OR TWOC OR "vehicle theft" OR "unauthorised taking" OR "unauthorized taking" OR knife OR knives OR gun*
- 2. facilitator OR practition* OR "care worker" OR "care workers" OR therapist* OR "case-worker" OR "case-workers" OR "probation officers" OR "probation officer" OR "probation staff" OR "parole officers" OR "parole officers" OR "correctional officers" OR "correctional staff" "social worker" OR "social workers" OR "social work" OR "prison officer" or "prison guard" OR "prison officers" or "prison guards" OR Volunt* OR YOT* OR "youth offending team" OR "youth offender team" OR "YOT worker" OR mentor OR volunteer OR "peer mentor" OR "peer mentoring" OR "community partner" OR "community partners" OR "youth worker" OR "youth worker" OR "youth worker" OR "youth workers"

The initial concepts were then drawn on in combinations within the search strings used.

Up to 48 different combinations of search strings were used to guide the literature searches. One example search string is given below:

("Young Offender Institution" OR "Secure Training Centre" OR "Secure Training Center" OR "Secure Children's Home" OR "youth home" OR "youth homes" OR "youth residential program" OR "youth residential programs" OR "youth hostel" OR "youth hostels" OR "secure residential facility" OR "secure residential facilities" OR "juvenile detention" OR correction*) AND (facilitator OR practition* OR "care worker" OR "care workers" OR therapist* OR "case-worker" OR "case-workers" OR "probation officers" OR "probation officer" OR "probation staff" OR "parole officer" OR "parole officers" OR "correctional officer" OR "correctional officers" OR "correctional staff" "social worker" OR "social workers" OR "social work" OR "prison officer" or "prison quard" OR "prison officers" or "prison guards" OR Volunt* OR YOT* OR "youth offending team" OR "youth offender team" OR "YOT worker" OR mentor OR volunteer OR "peer mentor" OR "peer mentoring" OR "community partner" OR "community partners" OR "youth worker" OR "youth work" OR "youth workers") AND (cost* OR benefit* OR cost-effect* OR "cost effectiveness" OR "cost effective" OR "cost benefit analysis" OR "economic analysis" OR "cost of crime" OR "costs of crime" OR "social return" OR "Social Return On Investment" OR "cost of offending" OR "break-even analysis" OR "break even analysis" or "breakeven analysis" OR "value for money" OR "VfM")

Weight of Evidence

Weight of Evidence (WoE) is used to facilitate systematic judgements about the methodological quality of potential materials and their relevance to the specified questions. The research team used two WoE approaches, the Maryland Scientific Methods Scale (MSMS) 189 and an adapted form of the Evidence for Policy and Practice Information and Coordinating Centre (EPPI) scale. 190

The Maryland Scientific Methods Scale (MSMS)

The MSMS research design scale is scored from one to five where five is a study of excellence. A threshold score of three was required for the study to be included in this review, with an ideal score of four or five. The MSMS evidence categories are as follows: 191

- Level 1. Correlation between a crime prevention program and a measure of crime or crime risk factors at a single point in time.
- Level 2. Temporal sequence between the program and the crime or risk outcome clearly observed, or the presence of a comparison group without demonstrated comparability to the treatment group.
- Level 3. A comparison between two or more comparable units of analysis, one with and one without the program.
- Level 4. Comparison between multiple units with and without the program, controlling for other factors, or using comparison units that evidence only minor differences.
- Level 5. Random assignment and analysis of comparable units to program and comparison groups.

Table B.1: MSMS strength of research design scale

Methods Score	Before-After	Control	Multiple Units	Randomization
Level 1			yes	_
Level 2	yes			
Level 3	yes	yes		
Level 4	yes	yes	yes	
Level 5	yes	yes	yes	yes

Note that the multiple units are to test for findings in comparable groups. If no comparability exists, then consider this to be absent.

Sherman et al., 1998.

Evidence for Policy and Practice Information and Co-ordinating Centre; Gough, 2007.

¹⁹¹ Taken directly from Sherman et al., 1998.

Evidence for Policy and Practice Information and Co-ordinating Centre (EPPI)

The EPPI approach is based around four scales, each of which is scored as high (3), medium (2) or low (1). The four scales are set out below. Sources were included if an overall EPPI score (i.e. EPPI 4) of at least two was achieved.

Adapted EPPI 1: taking into account all of the quality assessment issues, how confident are you that the source's findings answer all of the question(s) posed within this source? High (3), medium (2), low (1). Factors to guide decisions: The focus here is on evaluating the paper independent of the REA specification. Reviewers assessed papers with the following questions in mind:

Is there is a clear statement of aims of the research and is it related to the aims of the REA? Is there is a clear statement of findings? Is there adequate discussion of the evidence for and against the researchers' arguments? Are the findings discussed in relation to the original research questions? Was the study subjected to some form of peer review? If not peer reviewed, was it a significant piece that is nonetheless considered very influential (e.g. stimulated new policy/ debate/ research/ law)? Each paper was taken on its merits and discussed amongst the team to reach consensus. In some studies it was difficult to distinguish between the findings of the study and the conclusions. In those cases, confidence of these combined results/ conclusions was coded.

Adapted EPPI 2: appropriateness of research design and analysis for addressing the questions of this rapid evidence assessment: high (3), medium (2), low (1). Factors to guide decisions: the focus here is on whether the study design and analysis are suitable for answering the questions of the REA. Reviewers assessed papers with the following questions in mind:

Have the reasons for the particular elements of the design been discussed and justified (especially choice of data collection methods- questionnaires, interviews, focus groups, diaries, etc.)? Was the methodology used (quantitative/ qualitative/ mixed methods) appropriate? Were ethical issues considered? Were enough details provided so that the reader can assess whether ethical standards were maintained? Was approval from an ethics committee granted? Do the researchers discuss issues such as informed consent, confidentiality, etc.? Was a comparison group required/ used? If so how were they matched/ recruited? Is the data analysis sufficiently rigorous? Was a full description of the analysis process provided? Is it clear how data presented were selected from the sample?

Were contradictory data presented/ taken into account/ discussed? In summary the quality of data, the analysis and synthesis of data, the appropriateness of data and the interpretation of data were assessed.

Adapted EPPI 3: relevance of the study (including conceptual focus, context, sample and measures) for addressing the questions in this rapid evidence assessment: high (3), medium (2), low (1). Factors to guide decisions: the focus here is on whether things like definitions/ sample etc. of the study are in line with the questions for the REA. Reviewers assessed papers with the following questions in mind:

Are the operational definitions used in line with those utilised in the literature searches? If not, are they similar enough that the study is relevant? Was the recruitment strategy appropriate to the aims of the research and for the questions posed by this REA? Is there sufficient explanation of how the participants were selected and recruited? Is there sufficient consideration/ explanation of the representativeness of the sample or why the participants included were most appropriate? Were there any issues with recruitment/ retention of research or comparison group sample (e.g. response rate/ ineligibility/ attrition)? Were there any issues with the data collection methods? Is it clear how data were collated? Was the setting for collection justified? Were the methods justified? Do the study authors engage in reflexivity e.g. consideration of the possibility of researcher bias, relationships between them and the participants?

Adapted EPPI 4: overall WoE: high (3), medium (2), low (1). Factors to guide decisions: taking into account quality of execution, appropriateness of design and relevance of focus, what is the overall weight of evidence this study provides to answer the question of this specific rapid evidence assessment? Reviewers assessed papers with the following questions in mind:

Provenance: what are the author's/authors' credentials? Are the authors' arguments supported by evidence (e.g. primary historical material, case studies, narratives, statistics, recent scientific findings)? Objectivity: is the source's tone even handed or prejudicial? Are contrary data considered or is certain pertinent information ignored/ used selectively to reinforce an authorial position? Is there evidence of bias in the article? Do the statistics match those in other publications? If not, is the argument (method, research design etc) on which they are based convincing? How do we know the data are reliable? What other supporting data are available? Persuasiveness: which of the arguments made are most/ least convincing? Value: are the arguments and conclusions made

convincing? Does the work ultimately contribute in any significant way to an understanding of the subject?

Using the Weights of Evidence

When a source was quantitative, then both MSMS and EPPI scores were used; where qualitative or mixed methods then just the EPPI. The MSMS protocol was drawn directly from the original source, whereas the EPPI guidance was adapted (see protocols above). The guidance protocols ensured consistency in approach across the members of the research team. Quantitative evidence was required to reach at least threshold confidence or relevance ratings on both WoEs (3 on the MSMS design and 2 on the EPPI overall). Other research designs could be included based on the EPPI overall alone (at or above level 2). Papers that fell below both thresholds were rejected.

Synthesised sources

Each title was scanned by one of six members of the core research team, with approximately 15 per cent scanned by at least two members of the team. Over 3,000 sources were identified as being possibly relevant and their abstracts were read to decide whether or not to consider them for full extraction, these were all considered by at least two members of the team. Eventually, 369 papers were extracted into an Access Database and 272 sources were initially considered for inclusion in this report. Following further refinements and editing, this paper is based on 164 cited sources, of which 137 were scored and categorised using the full Weight of Evidence procedure and the remaining sources are included for context. The findings are derived from 164 synthesised sources.

Table B.2 shows the number of sources included at each stage of the review process.

Table B.2: Summary of reviewed sources drawn on at each stage of the review process

Filtering of Sources				
Number	Search Stage			
65,000	Unique sources, identified by bibliographic searches and call for papers, filtered by title			
3,285	Sources filtered by abstract			
369	Sources fully extracted			
164	Sources included in the final synthesis and this report			
71	Sources used to provide evidence of impact that met or exceeded MSMS level 3 and EPPI level 2			
25	Sources used to provide evidence about implementation that met or exceeded EPPI level 2			
41	Meta-analyses or systematic reviews			
27	Papers included for context			